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OUR VISION
A regulatory framework and climate that produces safe and healthy working

conditions for mineworkers and communities affected by mining.

OUR MISSION 
To facilitate sustained improvement of occupational health and safety at
mines through focused research and guidance on best practice, effective
policy advice and legislation, and the development of a pervasive culture 

of health and safety.
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Glossary

Acronyms and Abbreviations

AIDS Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome  

ATR Annual Training Report 

CEO Chief Executive Officer

CFO Chief Financial Officer 

CIOM Chief Inspector of Mines

COP Code of Practice 

CROO Chief Research and Operations Officer 

CSIR Council of Scientific and Industrial Research 

DME Department of Minerals and Energy

DoL Department of Labour 

EMTAC Engineering and Machinery Technical Advisory Committee

HIRA Hazard Identification, Risk Assessment

HIV Human Immunodeficiency Virus

HR Human Resources

HTAC Human Factors Technical Advisory Committee

ICOH International Congress on Occupational Health

ILO International Labour Organisation

INH Isoniazid

IPR Intellectual Property Right

KBr Potassium Bromide

MHSA Mine Health and Safety Act (No. 29 of 1996)

MHSC Mine Health and Safety Council (‘Council’) 

MHSI Mine Health and Safety Inspectorate (‘Inspectorate’)  

MMOA Mine Medical Officers Association

MOHAC Mining Occupational Health Advisory Committee

MRAC Mining Regulations Advisory Committee

MQA Mining Qualifications Authority

NIHL Noise Induced Hearing Loss

OHTAC Occupational Health Technical Advisory Committee

OHS Occupational Health and Safety

PATHAUT Pathology Autopsy Database 

PFMA Public Finance Management Act (No. 1 of 1999)

RETAC Rock Engineering Technical Advisory Committee

SANS South African National Standards

SAMRASS South African Mines Reportable Accidents Statistical System   

SCM Supply Change Management  

SIMRAC Safety in Mines Research Advisory Committee

TB Tuberculosis

WSP Workplace Skills Plan
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Terms and Definitions

Chief Inspector means the officer appointed in terms of Section 48(1) of the Mine Health and Safety Act, 1996, and

includes any officer acting in that capacity. 

Council means the Mine Health and Safety Council established in terms of Section 41(1) of the Mine Health and

Safety Act, 1996.

Hazard means a source of, or exposure to danger.

Health refers to occupational health at mines.

Health hazard means any physical, chemical or biological hazard to health including anything declared to be a health

hazard by the Minister.

Mines means any excavation and activity where mineral deposits are mined; all buildings, structures, machinery,

dumps, roads or objects that are used during the winning, exploitation, and processing of a mineral.

Minister means the South African Minister of Minerals and Energy.

Occupational health includes occupational hygiene and occupational medicine.

Occupational hygiene means the anticipation, recognition, evaluation and control of conditions at a mine that may

cause illness or adverse health effects to persons.

Occupational medicine means the prevention, diagnosis and treatment of illness, injury and adverse health effects

associated with a particular type of work.

Risk means the likelihood that occupational injury or harm to persons will occur.

SIM refers to MHSC research projects. The 6-number digit indicates a Period/Thrust Area/Allocation, for example, SIM

04 09 07 refers to research approved during 2004, within the Thrust area No. 9, (Special Projects), and allocated the

random number seven.        

Strategic objectives represent organisational outcomes that are critical to the achievement of the MHSC’s mission

for a period of five to ten years. Key activities and sub-activities are the activities necessary to achieve the strategic

objectives.
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Chairperson’s Overview 

The MHSC annual report for 2008/09 spans a period of on -

going challenges during which health and safety at mines

received extensive media coverage and public attention.

The reporting year has seen the MHSC hosting a Tripartite

Leadership Summit, the release of the Presidential Audit

Report on mine health and safety, amendments to the

Mine Health and Safety Act and the completion of an

internal Council restructuring process – events that will

undoubtedly influence and drive the future.

Before presenting the MHSC’s Annual Report to our valid

stakeholders, I first wish to congratulate the MHSC Safety

Award winners! This year, the MHSC conferred almost fifty

Safety Awards on mines, including the prestigious Safety

Achievement Flag which was awarded in all four possible

categories.

In 2007, the Mine Health and Safety Council revised its

strategic priorities for the 2008-2011 periods which resulted

in the identification of the following strategic priorities: 

1.  Promote and facilitate the development of a preventative

OHS culture.

2.  Support the achievement of the 2013 milestones within

the mining industry.

3.  Advise the Minister on mining health and safety issues.

4.  Promote the development of OHS capacity, and 

5.  Ensure the effective operation of the Council.

While there has been a noticeable improvement in the

mining sector’s safety performance since 2007, the

improvements seem to have levelled off at approximately

200 fatalities, since 2005. 

The MHSC and its stakeholders initiated a leadership

summit to develop an action plan to drive the achievement

of the safety and health milestones. The summit action

themes focused on a culture of health and safety,

developing a learning industry, and establishing safer and

healthier workplaces. The Council’s priority in the past year

was to establish measures to implement this action plan.

Another significant event was the release of the 

Presidential Mine Health and Safety Audit report, in

February 2009. The report highlighted areas requiring

attention to improve the health and safety performance of

the mining sector. The recommendations included the

need to improve the capacity of the MHSC, the need to

develop a national mine seismic network to deal with falls

of ground; and to urgently develop and implement a

programme that will promote a culture of health and

safety at mines. The MHSC developed an action plan to

ensure that these recommendations are implemented.

The Mine Health and Safety Amendment Act was

promulgated in April 2009. The Act is intended to

strengthen the regulatory environment to drive the

achievement of mine health and safety milestones. In

implementing the Act, the tripartite stakeholders will need

to work together to effect the necessary step change in

health and safety improvement.

To support all the new initiatives and to ensure sustained

delivery, the restructuring of the Council office was

finalised with the appointment of senior executives. To

improve delivery on the research programme, the process

of managing research was reviewed and a new process is

being piloted.

The challenges facing the mining industry require robust

interventions and practical solutions. I know we can go from

strength to strength in working together towards zero harm.

I wish to thank the MHSC members, SIMRAC, MOHAC,

MRAC and Audit Committee members, and our stake -

holders and staff for their efforts to make a difference in

the health and safety of mineworkers and affected

communities.

Thabo Gazi

Chairperson: Mine Health and Safety Council
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Chief Executive Officer’s Overview 

It is my honour and privilege to introduce
the highlights of the Mine Health and
Safety Council achievements against
targets as set out in our strategic plan. 

The MHSC office restructuring process that was initiated

during 2007/08 resulted in the appointment of three

executives in 2008. This strengthened the Council

capacity as it repositions itself for improved efficiency

and focused delivery.

The 2008/09 financial year was a challenging and yet

gratifying period for mining health and safety in that the

sector achieved the best ever levels of safety

performance. While this is still far from the levels that

need to be achieved, it is a step in the right direction.

Accidents, injuries and occupational diseases amongst

mineworkers remain a scourge in the industry. As an

imperative to continue to drive the process of continual

improvement of health and safety performance,

proactive responses to safety issues are of vital

importance. The MHSC’s research programmes are

focused on developing solutions to deal with the major

challenges of health and safety at mines. The research

programme includes the following thrust areas:

managing rock bursts and rock falls; minimising

exposure to occupational and physical diseases;

prevention of explosions and fires, and managing

machinery and engineering hazards. 

The MHSC Safety Research Programme included three

programmes on rockfalls, three on rockbursts, and also

approved projects on machinery, engineering, electricity,

and the prevention of fires and explosions. 

Since its inception, the MHSC has commissioned and

funded more than 60 rock-related research projects. The

topics address both fundamental and applied research to

increase the understanding of rock mass characteristics

and the associated influence on rock-related accidents

and incidents. 

Through the use of ‘preconditioning’ blasting techniques

of underground workings, some success has been

achieved to minimise the impact of seismic risk.

Research outcomes have provided methodologies to

improve the stability of geological structures such as

faults and dykes through the use of ‘bracket pillars’.

Regional stability has also improved through optimising

the design of stabilising pillar systems in deep-level gold

mines.

Despite this, falls of ground still contribute significantly

to mine fatalities. One of the recommendations of the

presidential audit outcomes was for the establishment of

a national seismic network. This has been included as a

priority for the coming year.©
 L
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In the area of Machinery and Transport, research carried

out on detaching hooks indicated that the risk of

accidental opening of a detaching hook in any shaft,

which can result in consequential deaths, can be

evaluated in an objective and quantifiable manner, and

hence be prevented.  

The Occupational Health Research Programme includes

projects on tuberculosis, airborne pollutants, toxic

metals, physical hazards, and occupational diseases,

especially silicosis and Noise-Induced Hearing Loss. 

The Silicosis Elimination Programme includes the

identification of biomarkers for the prediction and early

detection of worker exposure to harmful levels of silica

dust and to determine accurate and effective methods to

measure and report occupational exposure levels of

workers to crystalline silica dust.  

The MHSC is planning awareness programmes on

silicosis, which will include the dissemination of best

practice manuals, short films and facilitators’ booklets for

management, workers and health representatives. 

In promoting health and safety, the MHSC has developed

and published handbooks, textbooks, informative and

down-loadable web-based booklets, CDs, DVDs, multi-

language comics, informative packages, and guidelines.

These, together with more than 370 final research

reports, are available for download on the MHSC website

(http://www.mhsc.org.za).

The tripartite leadership summit identified clear actions

to instill a health and safety culture, build health and

safety knowledge and capacity, and refocus research on

creating healthy and safe working environments. These

actions will form part of our priorities going forward.  

Bilateral engagements between the Mine Health and

Safety Council and the Mining Qualifications Authority

ensure that the focus on implementing of the summit

action plan and presidential audit is enhanced. 

We look forward to finalising the Management

Information System, which will further enhance service

delivery and our capacity to interact with our

stakeholders. 

Acknowledgements

I wish to extend my sincere gratitude to the members of

the Council for their commitment to the MHSC and its

vision. I would also like to thank my management team

and staff for their unstinting dedication and passion in

promoting the health and safety of miners.

Ms Pontsho Maruping

Chief Executive Officer: Mine Health and Safety Council
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Mandate 

The Mine Health and Safety Council is a
national public entity (Schedule 3A)
established in terms of the Mine Health
and Safety Act, No 29 of 1996, as
amended. 

The entity comprises a tripartite board represented by

State, Employer, and Labour members under

chairmanship of the Chief Inspector of Mines. The MHSC

is funded by public revenue and is accountable to

Parliament.

Mr SF Stehring, 
Labour member

Mr J Viljoen, 
Employer member

Mr B Nyirenda, 
Employer member

Mr T Dube, 
State member

Dr L La Grange, 
Employer member

Mr P Hlabizulu, 
Labour member

Mr T Gazi,
Chairperson

Mr D Msiza, 
State member

Mr V Maseko, 
Employer member

Mr M Nhlapho, 
Labour convenor

Mr S van der Woude,
Employer convenor

The following members were absent:
Ms S Makboba, State member; Dr N Maku, State member; Mr E Gcilitshana, Labour member; Mr J Henning, Labour member
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Structure 

The MHSC functions according to the following organisational structure: 

The main task of the Council is to advise the Minister of

Minerals and Energy on occupational health and safety

legislation and research outcomes focused on improving

and promoting occupational health and safety in South

African mines. The Council also:  

•  Oversees the activities of its committees;  

•  Promotes a culture of health and safety in the mining

industry; 

•  Arranges a summit every two years to review the state

of occupational health and safety at mines; and 

•  Liaises with the Mining Qualifications Authority and any

other statutory bodies about mining health and safety.  

The Permanent Committees of the Council, SIMRAC,

MRAC and MOHAC are established in terms of Section

44 (3) (a-e) and Section 44(4) (a-d) of the Mine Health and

Safety Act with the following functions:  

•  MRAC advises the Council on proposed regulatory

changes, guidelines for codes of practice; and on

national standards to be approved by the South African

Bureau of Standards. 

•  MOHAC is tasked with advising the Council on health

policies, standards, systems and procedures related to

occupational health risks, health regulations, health

research and health data. 

•  SIMRAC reviews OHS risks and establishes the need for

OHS research projects; establishes criteria for

determining the funding of health and safety research;

evaluates research proposals; and oversees the

research programme and the technology transfer of

research outcomes.  

Operational Execution: Finances, Communication, Administration, Secretarial   

Health policy

Health information

Health regulations

Research input

Research needs

Research programme

Technology transfer

Levy criteria

Legislation

Regulations

Guidelines

Standards

In
p
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Mine Health and Safety Council

Audit committee

SIMRACMRAC MOHAC

OHTAC RETAC EMTAC HTAC
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Safety in Mines Research Advisory Committee

Member name Total

meetings

Total

present

Comments on membership and attendance

State members

Mr T Dube 4 2 Chairperson and Group Convenor from July 2008

Ms P Mnisi 6 5

Mr TB Letanta 6 5

Mr S Mbuli 2 2 Member from September 2008

Mrs O Masekoa 1 1 Member from January 2009

Mr A  Coutinho 5 5 Member until November 2008

Employer members

Dr B Chicksen 6 3 Group Convenor (from November 2008 while Mr Ally was away)

Mr I Ally 5 5 Group Convenor (was away from November 2008 to March 2009) 

Dr MF Randera 4 4 Member until October 2008

Dr B Madolo 6 2

Mr G More O’Farrel 6 2

Ms P Kgosimang 2 2 Member from October 2008

Dr T Balfour-Kaipa 1 1 Member from October 2008

Labour members

Mr E Gcilitshana 6 3 Group Convenor

Mr A Rikhotso 6 6

Mr M Nhlapho 6 1

Mr C Smith 6 0

Mr H Lauffs 6 2

Membership Status and Attendance Record

Mine Health and Safety Council 

Member name Total

meetings

Total

present

Comments on membership and attendance

State members

Mr TE Gazi 6 6 Chairperson and Group Convenor

Ms S Makhoba 5 5 Member until February 2009

Mr T Dube 6 5 Member since July 2008 

Dr N Maku 6 4

Mr D Msiza 5 5 Member from May 2008

Employer members

Mr S van der Woude 6 6 Group Convenor

Mr B Nyirenda 6 4

Dr M la Grange 6 4

Mr V Maseku 6 3

Mr J Viljoen 6 4

Labour members

Mr M Nhlapho 6 5 Group Convenor

Mr E Gcilitshana 6 3

Mr P Hlabizulu 6 4

Mr J Henning 6 4

Mr SF Stehring 6 5
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Mining Occupational Health Advisory Committee 

Member name Total

meetings

Total

present

Comments on membership and attendance

State members

Dr N Maku 5 5 Chairperson and Group Convenor from June 2008

Ms B Senabe 6 4

Dr D Mokoboto 6 4

Ms P Mnisi 3 2 Member until September 2008

Dr L Ndelu 6 1

Mr T Letanta 6 1 Member from September 2008

Employer members

Dr T Balfour-Kaipa 3 3 Group Convenor and member from November 2008

Dr F Randera 4 3 Group Convenor and member until November 2008 

Dr A Burger 6 2

Dr R Hansia 6 2

Dr C Badenhorst 6 2

Mr M Beukes 6 5

Labour Members

Ms P Mboniswa 6 5 Group Convenor

Mr M Mira 6 5

Mr D Selebogo 6 4

Mr G Ellis 2 1 Member from September 2008

Mr J Hanekom 3 1 Member until September 2008

Mining Regulation Advisory Committee 

Member name Total

meetings

Total

present

Comments on membership and attendance

State members

Mr D Msiza 6 3 Chairperson and Group Convenor from May 2008

Mr G Ndamse 6 2 Member from May 2008 

Mr A Coutinho 6 6

Ms B Senabe 6 6 Member from May 2008

Vacant

Labour members

Mr L Mekuto 6 6 Group Convenor

Mr HC Griezel 6 5

Mr E Nkosi 6 5

Mr S Mgemane 6 5

Mr AF van Heerden 6 2

Employer members

Mr A van Achterbergh 6 2 Group Convenor 

Ms C Dixon 6 6

Mr D Baker 6 2

Mr M Gray 6 1

Mr J Britz 6 2 Member from February 2008



The MHSC Office

The MHSC Office is the executive unit of the MHSC and manages the following
operational deliverables:

Financial Management: Accounting and auditing; asset management; levy collection; procurement.

Research Management: Research project management; contractual supervision; technology transfer.

Communications: Public relations; media liaison; corporate identity and branding; promotions;

publications; events management; information sharing. 

Information Technology: Electronic communications; website management; information management.    

Committee Administration: Research programme administration; secretarial services; meetings.       

Office Administration: Reception; office leasing; insurance; catering and cleaning services.  

Personnel Services: Human resource administration; staff resourcing; payroll.        

The MHSC office organisational structure is depicted on the following page.

Mr N Singh, CROO
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Ms P Maruping, CEO

From L: Standing: Mr Dragan Amidzic, Mr Adiel Badrodien, Ms Ziyanda Tokwe, Ms Mabongi Simelani, Ms Elsie Zinsser,
Mrs Cheryl Jones, Ms Nteseng Sebetoane, Mr Siboniso Mfeka. 

Middle row: Mr Gus Norman, Ms Lerato Nyathi, Ms Belina Mosiuoa, Mrs Noeleen Woods, Ms Naomi Nkoana. 
Front row: Mr Lehlohonolo Phoswa, Mr Johannes Lithebe, Mr Vhonani Tshifularo.

Absent: Dr Audrey Banyini, Ms Kgomotso Mokhine, Mr Solomon Mthembu, Ms Judith Matthews.   

Ms D Kgoele, CFO



MHSC office organisational structure
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IT Specialist

Mr Remember Moraba

IT Controller

Mr Lehlohonolo Phoswa

Communications

Officer

Ms Elsie Zinsser

CROO

Mr Navin Singh
HR Manager

Vacant

CEO

Ms Pontsho Maruping

General Assistant

Ms Naomi Nkoana

Receptionist

Mr Siboniso Mfeka

Executive Assistant

Ms Ziyanda Tokwe (Temp)

Personal Assistant

Ms Belina Mosiuoa

Programme Manager

Health

Dr Audrey Banyini

Programme Manager

Research

Mr Dragan  Amidzic

Document Officer

Mr Solomon Mthembu
(Temp)

Committee

Administrator

Mrs Cheryl Jones

Committee

Administrator

Ms Judith Matthews

Committee

Administrator

Mrs Noeleen Woods

CFO

Ms Dinah Kgoele

Personal Assistant

Ms Nteseng Sebetoane
(Temp) 

IT Manager

Vacant

Financial Manager

Mr Gus Norman (Temp)

Procurement Specialist

Mr Madumetsa
Thobakgale 

Creditors Controller

Mr Celvan Philip

Levy Administrator

Mr Aadiel Badrodien

Financial Accountant

Mr Johannes Lithebe

Creditors Clerk

Ms Kgomotso Mokhine
(Temp) 
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Performance Overview

The Mine Health and Safety Council (MHSC) revised its

strategic priorities for the period 2008 to 2011 by taking

the following into account:

•  Opportunities and challenges facing the broader mining

industry;

•  Past performance of the MHSC and progress made on

the strategic objectives;

•  Previously allocated key activities now forming part of

operational sub-activities;

•  A review of the relevance and efficacy of existing

strategic objectives; 

•  The mandate of the MHSC and its statutory

committees;

•  A review of the MHSC’s internal strengths and

weaknesses, and 

•  Current and future external opportunities and

challenges facing occupational health and safety in the

mining industry.  

The table below presents the Council’s priorities as well

as the high-level activities needed to achieve the

priorities.  These activities are developed further into

sub-activities and deadlines as indicated on the

performance table that follows. A performance report

follows after the table.  
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Strategic Objective High-Level Activities

1)  Promote and facilitate the development of a
preventative OHS culture

•  Promotion of occupational health and safety in the
mining sector

2)  Support the achievement of 2013 milestones within the
mining industry

• Conduct research/reviews to address high priority
accidents and illness

• Implementation of research outcome
• Support the MHSI to drive OHS 

3)  Advise the Minister on mining health and safety issues •  Advise the Minister on a scheduled basis on various
OHS issues

4) Promote the development of OHS capacity •  Facilitate skills development for groupings identified in
the MHSA 

5) Ensure the effective operation of the Council •  Set up and implement an accountable governance
structure

©
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Table: Performance Overview Summary

Goal 1: Promote the development of a preventative OHS culture

Key Activity Sub Activity Target Date Indicators Achieved

Yes/No/Partly

Outcomes

1.1 
Promote
Occupational
Health and
Safety in the
mining sector

1.1.1
Implement a
Communica-
tions Plan

03/2009 MHSC
Quarterly
Report
Profiled 

Yes The quarterly reports were profiled. In
addition, the following promotional activities
were undertaken:
Information  dissemination 
-  More than 1 000 MHSC publications were

distributed to stakeholders. This includes
silicosis awareness materials, and published
handbooks on hygiene measurements,
mine safety and nutrition.     

-  CDs and DVDs on the elimination of silicosis
and Noise-Induce Hearing Loss
programmes were distributed. 

-  MHSC Newsletters promoted OHS to 1200
tripartite stakeholders including mines,
mining groups, research agencies, labour
unions, the State, universities, and
international organisations.     

Media exposure 
The MHSC received media exposure in
newspapers, radio, television, and in printed
and digital publications by means of media
releases, free advertorials and promotional
articles. 
Website
The MHSC website was re-launched in July
2008 and provides access to general
information and research information within
nine thrust areas relating to OHS at mines in
370 final research reports, risk assessments,
and downloadable booklets.
Events
-  The MHSC hosted the Tripartite Leadership

Summit in September 2008, which was
attended by 350 industry stakeholders. 

-  The MHSC promoted its research activities
and programmes at various events attended
by 1200 stakeholders. 

Safety Awards
MHSC Safety Awards were conferred on 50
mines. The Safety Achievement Flag was
awarded in all four categories in this
reporting period.    
Promoting OHS 
-  A service provider was secured to

undertake informative Silicosis Roadshows
during 2009.  

-  The MHSC promoted its publications at the
ICOH conference during March 2008.   

-  Research launches and technical workshops
promoted MHSC research programmes and
final outcomes to the mining industry. 

-  The entire budget was not fully utilised due
to difficulties in securing the services of an
appropriate service provider to undertake a
research survey that would have
determined the most appropriate
communication mediums to ensure
maximum reach to the target audiences.

Governance
The MHSC Annual Report was tabled at
Parliament in September 2008.
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Goal 2: Support the achievement of the 2013 milestones within the mining industry

Key Activity Sub Activity Target Date Indicators Achieved

Yes/No/Partly

Outcomes

2.1
Conduct
research/
reviews to
address 
high priority
accidents 
and illness

2.1.1
Review Past
Research

03/2009 Review
Updated

Partly -  Research Project 05 09 01 (“Critical review
of MHSC OHS research”) identified previous
MHSC research outcomes and the
requirements to effectively address R&D
and technology transfer needs.  

- A research needs analysis is conducted
annually involving MHSC stake holders to
avoid duplicating previous research and as a
means to review past research.

2.1.2
Develop an 
Occupational 
Health
Research 
Programme

03/2009 Programme
Developed

Yes -  The research needs analysis for the
2008/2009 research programme identified
11 continuation projects and three new
projects, each extending over three years.

-  Eight health projects address the silicosis
milestones on the dust measurement
analysis and analytical methods; detection,
prevention of silicosis and activities to
promote the eradication of the disease. 

-  A project is investigating issues relating to
women in mining and further research will
be scoped based on the outcomes of the
preliminary study. 

-  A research project is investigating Post-
traumatic Stress Disorders in the mining
industry.

-  A project is investigating the provision of
preventive therapy against tuberculosis for
South African mineworkers.   

-  A training DVD and manual for ergonomics
was developed.

-  The NIHL prevention programme comprises
four projects, including continuation work
on the development of a Quiet Rock Drill.

2.1.3
Develop an 
Occupational 
Safety
Research 
Programme

03/2009 Programme
Developed

Yes -  Various research projects support the
achievement of the 2013 milestones on
safety and on NIHL. 

-  Three projects address rock falls and three
projects investigate rockbursts.

2.1.4
Develop a 
Human
Factor 
Research 
Programme

03/2009 Programme
Developed

Partly A research needs analysis was conducted in
March 2008. It was recommended to
commence a programme of work in the
2009/2010 period.  
The MHSC approved a research project
entitled ‘An investigation into elements of
key areas of behavioural issues on
occupational health and safety in the South
African mining industry, (SIM 08 01 01).

2.1.5
Develop a 
framework
for the 
development
of new
Centres of 
Excellence
and support
of existing 
ones on key
OHS 
issues

03/2009 Framework
Developed

Partly -  The Tripartite Leadership Summit action
plan identified the requirements and
timetable for the development of a Centre
of Excellence.

-  The development of the terms of reference
for a framework is in progress. 

-  The MHSC has approved a Service Level
Agreement to ensure that the Savuka
Testing Facility is maintained for continued
testing purposes. 
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Goal 2: Support the achievement of the 2013 milestones within the mining industry

Key Activity Sub Activity Target Date Indicators Achieved

Yes/No/Partly

Outcomes

2.2
Implementa -
tion of 
research
outcomes

2.2.1
Develop and 
implement a
strategy to
include: 
•  Standards

Setting
•  Technology

Transfer

03/2009 Strategies
Drafted

No -  The focus for 2008/2009 was on ensuring
that the research process was streamlined
to improve efficiency. 

-  It is planned for 2009/2010 that a service
provider will be contracted to review
whether the existing research has been
effectively transferred to the end-users.
This will require engagement with individual
stakeholders to ascertain the status. 

-  It is envisaged that this status document
will be used as the basis to guide the
development of a strategy.

2.3
Support the 
Mining
Inspectorate
to 
drive OHS

2.3.1
Assist in the 
development
of 
regulatory
tools

03/2009 Regulatory
Tools
Developed

Partly The process to complete the legislative
review has been delayed. Progress was made
on the following regulatory tools:
-  Guidelines for work-related upper limb

disorders.
-  Minimum standards of fitness guidelines.
-  Guideline on risk-based medical

surveillance.
-  Guideline for the compilation of a

mandatory code of practice for the
assessment of personal exposure to
airborne pollutants.

-  Workers' incapacity due to ill health and
injuries.

-  Emergency care/ first-aid medical
surveillance of contractors.

-  A report will be issued on the status of
research outcomes and the impact on
legislative changes.

-  An analysis of the Presidential Mine Health
and Safety Audit report was concluded to
assess gaps in compliance.

2.3.2
Support the 
development
of 
monitoring
systems

03/2009 Support
provided

No -  There was no support for the development
of the monitoring systems.

-  The development of a monitoring system to
control rockbursts has been delayed.

2.3.3
Support 
reactive
research 
(Investigations
and 
Inquiries)

09/2008 SLA with
Service
Providers

Yes -  During 2008/9 budgetary period, provision
was made under the research programme
to undertake reactive research when
required.   

-  The Presidential Mine Health and Safety
Audit was concluded in February 2008,
which resulted in the identification of critical
aspects requiring investigation. 

-  Support was provided to an investigation
into the fracture of the steel-wire hoist rope
from the Gold Fields South Deep Mine
accident where the service provider was
asked to provide technical input.

-  A service level agreement has been
developed and sent to organisations whose
services would provide assistance with
investigations and enquiries.  
The SLA ensures that the services of these
companies can be timeously secured when
support for accident investigations are
required. 
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Goal 4: Promote the development of OHS capacity

Key Activity Sub Activity Target

Date

Indicators Achieved

Yes/No/Partly

Outcomes

4.1
To facilitate
skills 
development
for groupings
identified in 
the MHSA

4.1.1
Regular 
assessment
of 
occupational
health 
and safety
capacity 
in the sector

03/2009 Assessment
Report

Partly -  Sectoral capacity is reviewed annually based
on the submission of Workplace Skills Plan/
Annual Training Reports (WSP/ATRs) from
the mining sector.  The submission of the
WSP has become mandatory for all mines
after the promulgation of the amended
MHSA in April 2009.  

-  The MHSC is currently reviewing the learning
programme material provided by the MQA to
ensure training programmes address
industry needs.

4.1.2
Liaise with 
MQA on 
occupational
health 
and safety
capacity 
issues

09/2008 Memo -
randum 
of Under -
stand ing

Yes -  An MoU was deemed to be unnecessary,
however bilateral engagement between the
MHSC and the MQA takes place on a regular
basis. 
The CEOs of the MHSC and MQA also attend
the respective Council and Board meetings. 

-  The MQA has started to implement the
Leadership Summit Action Plan with the
development of a five-year roll-out plan to
ensure that 40 000 OHS representatives and
OHS stewards are trained.

-  The collaboration between the MHSC and the
MQA includes activities relating to:   
•  working towards the promotion of a culture

of health and safety; 
•  communicating learning opportunities in the

sector;
•  contributing towards building capacity and

driving awareness;
•  communicating the benefits of a safe and

healthy workplace; and 
•  assisting in forming partnerships to ensure

the dissemination of information.   

Goal 3: Advise the Minister on mining health and safety issues

Key Activity Sub Activity Target Date Indicators Achieved

Yes/No/Partly

Outcomes

3.1
Advise
Minister on 
various OHS
issues 
on a
scheduled
basis

3.1.1 Give
advice to the
Minister on
key OHS
issues

Quarterly Minister
Advised

Partly -  Quarterly Reports were submitted to the
Minister. 

-  Following the completion of the Presidential
Mine Health and Safety Audit, an action
plan to address the audit recommendations
was developed and agreed to by stake -
holders. This action plan has been included
in the MHSC Strategic Plan for 2009-2012.
The Minister was advised accordingly on the
plan.

3.1.2
Facilitate
Tripartite
Leadership
dialogues
with the
Minister

Quarterly Dialogues
facilitated

Partly -  A Tripartite Leadership Summit was held in
September 2008. The summit focused on
the following topics: leadership and culture;
learning industry and capacity
development; and a healthy and safe
workplace.

-  A plan has been developed to implement
the leadership summit action plan. 

-  The plan has been included in the MHSC
Strategic Plan for 2009-2012.

3.1.3 
Advise the
Minister on
Legislative
Issues

Quarterly Minister
Advised
on
legislation

No -  Submissions were made on the Mine Health
and Safety Amendment Bill. 
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Goal 5: Ensure the effective operation of the MHSC

Key Activity Sub Activity Target Date Indicators Achieved

Yes/No/Partly

Outcomes

5.1
Set up and 
implement an 
accountable 
governance
structure

5.1.1
Implement
recommenda-
tions of the
restructuring
review.

03/2009 Restruct -
uring
Implement ed

Yes -  The appointment of three MHSC executives,
namely CEO, CFO and CROO, was
concluded by October 2008. 

-  An extensive HR review was undertaken,
which included a review and development
of job profiles, developed competency
menus, a performance management
system, job evaluations, mapping of HR
processes and profiles, reviewing of policies
and development of remuneration and job
evaluation. 

5.1.2
Set up an
interactive
website

9/2008 New
Website

Yes A new MHSC website was developed on link
www.mhsc.org.za
Propriety research information that was
developed by the MHSC is protected against
unfair usage and infringement by means of
suitable website disclaimers. A new server
has been acquired and will be used to
enhance the functionality of the website.

5.1.3 
Set up an
Internal
Management
System

12/2008 Management
System

Yes The advertisement for the Management
Information System (MIS) was placed in
national newspapers and the State Tender
Bulletin. At the same time, the Mine Health
and Safety Inspectorate (MHSI) finalised the
procurement of an MIS. The MHSC
requirements were included in the MHSI
system. System installation has already
commenced.  

Performance Report

Strategic Objective 1
Promote Occupational Health and
Safety in the Mining Sector

The Mine Health and Safety Act, Section 43, tasks the

Council with promoting a culture of health and safety in

the mining industry.  

Performance

During the 2008/09 period, the MHSC profiled the

quarterly reports and implemented the communications

plan through the following activities:  

1.1 Quarterly reports

Quarterly reports were prepared and submitted to the DME

in July 2008, October 2008, January 2009 and April 2009.

1.2 Publications 

The MHSC published the following comics during the

reporting period:

• Knowledge is Power: Understanding and Preventing

silicosis in mines. 

Editors: Ingram, Banyini. 

ISBN 978-1- 919853-27-7 (Xhosa)

ISBN 978-1-919853-26-0 (Zulu)

ISBN 978-1-919853-30-7 (Sotho)
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The following books and booklets were distributed

during the reporting period:

• Handbook on Mine Occupational Hygiene

Measurements.

Editors: Stanton, Kielblock, Schoeman, Johnston

ISBN 978-1-919853-24-6

• Ergonomics guide for locomotives and guard cars in

South African gold and platinum mines. Schutte,

Shaba 

ISBN 1-919853-15-4

• Health and safety in welding and allied processes

with particular emphasis on welding fume. Stanton. 

ISBN 1-919853-08-1

• Introduction to Safety Practice in South African Mines. 

Adams, Du Plessis, Gumbie, Willis. 

ISBN 978-1-919853-22-2

• Nutrition booklet for the SA mining industry.

Bredenhann. 

ISBN 978-1-919853-25- 3

• Informative resource packages and booklets, CDs and

DVDs on the elimination of silicosis and the

elimination of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss were

widely distributed to the industry. Copies of the

materials were also handed out to delegates at the

MMOA congress in May 2008 and at the MHSC

Research Workshops in August 2008.      

1.3 Newsletters

MHSC newsletters promote mine health and safety,

general news, events, courses, and research outcomes.

During the 2008/09 period, two newsletters were

published and distributed in hard copy and electronically,

reaching various target audiences in the mining industry. 

The published newsletters included articles on:

• Mining fatalities;

• MHSC research outcomes;

• New MHSC publications;

• Mining courses and events; 

• The Tripartite Leadership Summit;

• Women in mining; and 

• MHSC Safety Awards winners.  

1.4 Annual Report 2007/08

The MHSC Annual Report was published at the end of

August 2008 and widely distributed in the industry to

various target audiences including stakeholders, mining

groups, research organisations, universities, National

Legal Libraries, international agencies, and employer

organisations. The annual report was tabled at

Parliament during September 2008. 

1.5 Media Liaison 

The MHSC received media exposure in newspapers,

national television, and in printed and digital

publications. Media releases appeared in local daily

newspapers on the Tripartite Leadership Summit, the

Mine Health and Safety Amendment Act, and on safety.    

Articles under the headings ‘Safety improvements

require collaborative approach, Mine Health and Safety

Council insists’, and ‘Mining industry to hold a Tripartite

Leadership Summit to collaborate on achieving zero

harm’ appeared during 2008 in the printed and digital

editions of the Mining Weekly.

1.6 Events

During 2008/09, the MHSC promoted its OHS activities

and research programme at the following events,

resulting in interaction with approximately 1200

stakeholders including industry leaders, workers,

professionals, mine management, and manufacturers:

• Important research outcomes were launched during

May 2008 at the MMOA congress on the following

projects:

- Health 701 (Thibela TB project),

- Project 030802 (Tuberculosis Audit Tool, Phase 2),

-  Project 030603 (Silicosis Elimination Programme,

Tracks A, B and C).
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The MHSC introduced and distributed its published

Handbook on Mine Occupational Hygiene

Measurements at this event. 

• Research workshops were held during August 2008 to

inform stakeholders about research results on the

Silicosis Elimination project, on Year 1 and 2

outcomes and on the work plan for Year 3.

• The MHSC promoted its occupational health research

publications at the 29th International Commission on

Occupational Health (ICOH) conference in Cape Town

during March 2009.  

• The MHSC facilitated a Tripartite Leadership Summit

in September 2008 under the slogan, Zero Harm

through Collaborative Action. 

Mining deaths reached a total of 119 by September 2008,

which compelled leaders in the mining industry to

explore urgent means to achieve the requisite 20 percent

fatality reduction rate needed to reach the 2013 targets

and milestones. Delegates considered and signed a

Leadership Summit Action Plan, which includes activities

aimed at:

• Promoting culture transformation of the industry

addressing issues such as compliance, enforcement,

the right to refuse dangerous work, and the issue of

production bonuses.

• Promoting learning, accelerating capacity, and

developing healthy and safe  mining  workplaces, 

• The development of a Centre of Excellence, to assist

the mining industry with  research and technology

transfer, in partnership with established institutions, 

• The development of industry-level policies and

associated actions, such as adopting best practices to

address falls of ground, reduce exposure to silica and

dust, and buying equipment and machinery that is

safe and quiet. 

The Mine Health and Safety Council will monitor the

implementation of the Action Plan. Extended Council

meetings will be held at least once a year with all

stakeholder leaders to strengthen and improve this

partnership. 

1.7 MHSC Safety Awards

The MHSC Safety Awards programme commenced on 

22 November 1999 and includes the following awards to

mines and individuals:

Millionaire Award – to recognise the milestone of

achieving one million fatality free shifts on any mine.

Thousand Fatality Free Production Shifts award – to

recognise the milestone of achieving 1 000 fatality free

production shifts on any mine.

Certificates of Excellence – to recognise the

achievement of a participating mine that has performed

better than the international benchmark for the mining

sector in which the participating mine operates. 

The international benchmark, reflected as ‘lost time

injury frequency rate per million hours worked’, is

determined annually by the Mining Inspectorate, using

the SAMRASS database, which incorporates all

reportable accidents in terms of Regulation 23.1 of the

MHSA.

Safety Achievement Flag – to award mines, that have

the highest percentage improvement in its allocated risk,

(in terms of days lost, when comparing two consecutive

three-year periods, the same periods that are used to

calculate the OHS Levies). 

The MHSC awards the Safety Achievement Flag within

the following four operational categories:

- Ultra deep gold and platinum mines (>2 000 m)

- Shallow to deep gold and platinum mines (<2 000 m)

- Coal mines

- Other mines 

Individual Awards – are conferred on any individual, or

group of individuals, such as a mine rescue team or a

mine safety committee, which has contributed to the

overall health and safety program of a mine, and in a

manner that has led to a significant improvement in

conditions at that mine, as nominated by the manager of

that mine or the employee representatives for an

Individual award. 

Nominations are assessed to determine whether such a

nomination is warranted.  Any specific acts of bravery

are also considered for this specific award.  



MHSC Annual Report 2008/2009 26

The Council wishes to congratulate the following 2008/09

winners on their excellent achievements: 

Safety Achievement Flag winners

In the category Deep/Ultra Deep (>2 000m) Gold and

Platinum Mines: 

Harmony Evander Gold Mine

In the category Shallow to Deep (<2 000 m) Gold and

Platinum Mines: 

RPM Union Mine

In the category Collieries:  

Dorstfontein Colliery 

In the category ‘Other’ Mines: 

PPC Lime Acres

Awarded Mine Millions Fatality Free Shifts Date conferred

RPM Union Mine Seven 2009/02

RPM Rustenburg Central Services Five 2008/04

Union Platinum Mine Five 2008/07

Modikwa Platinum Five 2009/03

Impala 7A Shaft Three 2008/05

RPM Amandelbult Two 2009/02

Impala 14 Shaft One 2008/06

Dominium Reefs Uranium Mine One 2008/05

Impala 1 Shaft One 2008/06

Mponeng One 2008/06

Harmony Unisel One 2008/06

Blyvooruitzicht Mine One 2008/06

Kloof Gold Mine One 2008/06

Amandelbult Mine One 2008/06

Aquarius Kroondal Platinum One 2008/07

Great Noligwa One 2008/09

Kloof Mine One 2008/10

Moab Khotsong One 2008/07

Impala 4 Shaft One 2008/11

Kopanang One 2008/11

Harmony Winkelhaak One 2008/11

Tau Lekoa One 2009/02

Impala 9 Shaft One 2009/02

Millions Fatality Free Shifts winners

Union Platinum Mine Safety Achievement Flag winners
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Awarded Mine Thousands Fatality Free Production Shifts Date conferred

Kriel Colliery Surface Operations Thirty 2008/04

Tselentis Colliery Ten 2008/12

Idwala Lime Nine 2008/04

Forzando North Colliery Nine 2008/07

Assmang Iron Ore Six 2008/09

Sedibeng Diamond Mine Six 2008/12

Landau Colliery Five 2008/05

Xstrata Waterval Four 2008/11

Helam Diamonds Four 2009/01

Dwarsrivier Chrome Four 2008/11

Xstrata Kroondal Chrome Three 2008/05

New Denmark Colliery Three 2008/06

Xstrata Horizon Chrome Three 2008/06

Forzando Colliery South Three 2009/03

Spitzkop Colliery Three 2008/11

Vaalkrantz Colliery Two 2008/11

Xstrata Mototolo Lebowa Two 2008/04

Xstrata Mototolo Borwa Two 2008/04

Petra Koffiefontein One 2008/05

Transhex Baken One 2009/01

Thousands Fatality Free Production Shifts winners

Winkelhaak Mine wins Safety Achievement Flag Xstrata Mototolo Mine wins the Thousand Fatality Free Shift
Award

Impala 7A Shaft Mine wins Millions Fatality Free Shift Award
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Strategic Objective 2 
Support The Achievement of the
2013 Milestones within The Mining
Industry

The MHSC focused on the following key objectives to

facilitate the achievements of the industry milestones, as

well as delivering against its mandate.

2.1  Conduct research/reviews to address high-priority

accidents and illnesses

Performance

Conduct research/reviews to address high-priority

accidents and illness.

2.1.1 Review of Past Research 

To ensure that there is no duplication of research

activities, and that SIMRAC funding is utilised effectively,

a “needs analysis” is conducted annually. All

stakeholders convene at a workshop to discuss future

research needs. At this point, previous and current

research is discussed. New research needs are then

considered. The “needs analysis” for 2008/2009 was

conducted in the months of February and March 2008.

The outcomes of these workshops were captured

electronically and stored for record purposes.

2.1.2 Development of Occupational Health Programme

The research programme for the 2008/09 occupational

health programme was finalised, with 11 continuation

projects and three new projects, each with duration of

three years. Nine of these projects addressed the silicosis

milestones.

Some of the outcomes of the finalised research projects

are listed below:

SIM 02 06 05 Phase 2 year 1 ‘Investigation into

surface properties of airborne particles in gold,

platinum and coal mining environments’

The literature review highlighted that employees who

work in gold mines are exposed to dust with a high

content of respirable crystalline silica and that silicosis is

prevalent among these employees. 

Previous research has shown the prevalence of silicosis

to be 18-20 percent in active black employees who work

in gold mines; 22-37% in black former miners and 51.6

percent in white miners.  Further recent work on three

South African coal mines showed that silicosis is not

restricted to the gold mining industry, but does exist in

the South African coal mines, in which the prevalence of

radiological-diagnosed pneumoconiosis was 4.2 percent.

The prevalence of Occupational Lung Diseases in coal

miners at autopsy was: 

• Silicosis at 10.7 percent; 

• Tuberculosis at 5.2 percent; 

• Coal workers pneumoconiosis, 7.3 percent and

• Emphysema at 6.4 percent. 

Even in the absence of silicosis, silica dust increases the

risk of tuberculosis and this risk is compounded in HIV-

infected workers. It is for variability of toxicological

activities that the study commenced to investigate the

South African situation. The protocols to collect full-shift-

gravimetric-respirable-dust samples from stope driller;

miner’s assistant; stope team member; winch operator;

and loco operator have been completed. Bulk dust

samples were also collected from gold and platinum

mines.  

The year 1 outputs on the project contributed to the

milestones by updating the knowledge of the status

of the increasing prevalence of silicosis and coal-

related lung diseases in the South African mining

industry.

SIM 08 06 01 ‘Determination of a possible correlation

between direct-on-filter X-Ray diffraction (XRD) and

direct-on-filter Infrared (IR)’

The objective of this study was to determine if a

correlation existed between the quartz results obtained

from direct-on-filter X-ray Diffraction analysis, direct-on-

filter Fourier-Transform Infrared analysis and indirect

analysis of respirable dust samples. 

The analysis of control filters using all three methods

produced results that were within the ± 15 percent

accuracy range required. Taking all the results from the

field samples into account, it was found that there was a

moderate to strong positive correlation between the

quartz results from the three methods. 

Even though there was a strong positive correlation

between the three methods, it was found that there were

significant differences between the actual values

obtained for a filter with the three methods.  There are a
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number of factors that may significantly affect actual

results of field samples obtained for all three methods. 

The outcomes of this project will be included in the

development of an industry strategy on dust sampling

and analysis.

SIM 06 01 01 ‘The development of practical guideline

on fatigue management with specific reference to the

mining industry’ 

The risk of fatigue is inherent in any work arrangement

involving shift work, long hours of work, irregular hours,

extended work hours and work that is physically or

mentally demanding, repetitive or requires high vigilance. 

The management of fatigue is a shared responsibility

between the organisation and its employees. An

organisation has control over work-related fatigue in that

it determines the hours of work, the type of work, work

rosters and, to a certain extent, the work environment.

An individual has control over non-work-related fatigue

that is variable on an individual level and includes an

individual’s health, family and relationship

responsibilities and lifestyle. 

This practical guideline provides advice that is generally

applicable to any workplace in the South African mining

industry, where fatigue is an occupational health and

safety issue. It is aimed at employers, mine

management, employees, health and safety

representatives and mine medical practitioners.

The guidelines, if adopted, should contribute to

reducing workplace incidents and injuries related to

fatigue.

SIM 05 08 03 ‘Post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) in

the South African mining industry’ 

The first year of the project reviewed literature relating to

PTSD and by collecting data using the approved

collection tool from the medical records at four gold

mining sites in two provinces.  A total of 658 medical

records were reviewed based on the number of mine

injuries from the accident registers that occurred from

2005 to 2007. 

Of the 658 medical records reviewed using the approved

data collection tool, only 29 medical records contained

complete data that could be analysed to confirm the

existence of PTSD.  Of the 29 confirmed cases of PTSD,

82.3 percent were males and 96.6 percent were Black by

racial classification. 

The median age was 34 years with the minimum and

maximum age of 21 and 52 years respectively. More than

half (55.5 percent) were married and the highest level of

education recorded was at primary school level. The

majority (86.2 percent) were underground general

workers. Only 11 (37.9 percent) had underlying chronic

conditions and 34.5 percent of the injuries sustained by

miners with PTSD were soft tissue injuries followed by

musculoskeletal injuries (31 percent).  Four subjects (13.8

percent) suffered from emotional shock from witnessing

traumatic events (i.e. from co-worker’s injury and death

due to a mine accident). However, due to the small

numbers in this data review, it should be noted that the

findings cannot be extrapolated. 

A qualitative study will commence in the next cycle to

further explore PTSD in the mining industry and to

develop diagnostic and management guidelines to

prevent it. 

SIM 08 09 01  ‘Exploratory survey of women in

mining in the South African mining industry with

specific regards to but not limited to occupational

health and safety issues’ – A Literature review 

In a country where the economically active workforce

comprises 45 percent women, the mining and minerals

industry has an average of around 7.3 percent women

and the majority of these are clustered in the clerical and

administrative occupations. Only two percent of women

work underground. The barriers to women entering the

mining sector have been identified and described as

including: Lack of knowledge of the industry, lack of

knowledge about career development opportunities, lack

of knowledge about training and development

opportunities; discrimination; lack of role models and

mentors; lack of appropriate site infrastructure (such as a

nursing facility or crèches, change houses, medical

facilities); and the provision of personal protective

equipment (PPE); physical constraints; and health and

safety issues.  

Three categories of physical constraints exist in South

African deep-level mines that affect the ability to do

work, especially in hot conditions. These are physical

work capacity, heat intolerance and anthropometry /

body composition. Diamond mines record fewer

problems to attract women miners, mainly as a result of
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less risky mining operations compared to gold, coal and

platinum operations.  All mining groups are introducing

strategies to attract and retain women by addressing

policy changes and changes in the infrastructure.  As far

as international trends are concerned, discrimination

based on gender, marital status, sexual orientation, race,

creed or colour is regarded as unprofessional and illegal

in Australia, Canada, the United States of America and the

United Kingdom.  

Few roleplayers in the mining industry today would admit

that they consciously discriminate against any group, but

workplace culture and working conditions may

inadvertently lead to subconscious discrimination.  African

and South American mines show trends similar to South

Africa as far as underground mining operations are

concerned. However, women are fully active in small-scale

mining activities. 

The outcome of the literature review resulted in

identifying knowledge gaps on psychological response

to physical strains on mine workers underground. 

SIM 04 09 01 ‘Ergonomics programme and standards

for functional work capacity DVDs and Training CDs’

The training DVDs and CDs if adopted, should reduce

incidence and injuries related to workplace ergonomics.

Other projects that form part of the Occupational

Health Programme for 2008/9 are:

Silicosis control programme: Dust and measurements

& reporting Phase 3, Year 3 to:

• Implement international quality control testing and

standardisation for crystalline silica on filter analysis

• Compare South African practice with international

best practice including linkage of exposure and

medical surveillance

• Develop manuals on best practice to assess exposure

to airborne respirable crystalline silica.

Track B: Silicosis control program: Environmental

engineering and dust control Phase 3, Year 3 to:

• Assess the filtration efficiency for respirable dust of

the current filter media used for dust control 

• Assess the different control technologies (existing

and new)

• Pilot and evaluate potentially cost effective, new and

existing dust control methods

• Develop draft best practice manuals for South African

mines including design component for new mines.

This should be commodity based and include

manuals for gold, coal and quarries.

Track C: Silicosis control programme: Technology

Transfer and awareness. Year 3 to:

• Pilot output 1

• Worker Film 1  and Worker Film 1 facilitators’ booklet

• Health and safety representatives’ manual facilitators’

guide  

• Film for management.

Investigation of standardisation of Digital Chest X-Ray

in SA mining industry to:

• Determine accurate and reproducible efficient

methods of interpreting digital chest radiographs

during medical surveillance for pulmonary

tuberculosis, silicosis and other pneumoconiosis. 

Effect of crystalline silica on activation and function

of macrophages and T  lymphocytes' (postgraduate

study) for:

• Identification of effects of crystalline silica on the

activation and function of human macrophages

infected with the virulent strain of M. tuberculosis

H37Rv in culture

• Identification of crystalline silica on the lytolytic and

microbicidal function of human T lymphocytes

towards macrophages infected with the virulent strain

H37Rv of M. tuberculosis in culture.

Status (base lining) of noise & dust exposure Year 2 to:

• Provide baseline data on noise and dust that will

enable the  monitoring of the status of noise and dust

on all occupations and the impact of the silicosis

research outputs.

Effects of community-wide INH prevention therapy

against TB among SA gold mineworkers Phase 2 to:

• Reduce pulmonary infection in high-risk miners

through taking INH prophylaxis.

Study to develop a recommendation for design,

management and selection of protective eyewear in

the gold mining industry (postgraduate study) to:

• Develop recommendations for the design,

management and selection of appropriate eyewear.
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Thirty-year trend analysis of occupational lung

disease on PATHAUT (postgraduate study) for:

• The study aims to provide long-term disease trends,

calculation of exposure risks and document the

extent of occupational lung disease in the platinum

and diamond mining industries.

Molecular characterisation of clinical and

environmental isolates of M. Kansasii in SA gold

mines (post graduate) to:

• Determine whether the source of M. kansasii in the

gold mining areas can be traced to water distribution

systems

• Determine the genetic diversity found amongst

clinical and environmental isolates of M. kansasii

• Identify genetic differences between isolates of M.

kansasii from clinical and environmental sources with

respect to pathogenic determinants

• Determine the clinical significance of M. kansasii

isolates using clinical and laboratory findings. 

Research launches that took place in 2008/9 were:

• SIM 04 09 03: Occupational hygiene handbook, on the

13th of March 2008

• SIM 03 08 02 TB: An audit tool for the tuberculosis

control programme in the South African Mining

industry, on the 2nd of May 2008

• Silicosis programme Year 2 research outcomes, on

the 26th of August 2008.

2.1.3  Develop an Occupational Safety Research

Programme

The research programme for the 2008/09 occupational

safety programme that supports the achievement of the

2013 milestones comprised the following projects:

• Rockfall elimination programme (three projects)

• Rockburst prevention programme (one project)

• NIHL prevention programme (four projects)

Some of the outcomes of the finalised research projects

are:

SIM 05 05 02 ‘Review and consolidate HIRA relating

to trackless mobile equipment’

The purpose of the study was to compile a list of

significant occupational health and safety (OHS) related

risks in the design, selection and use of trackless mobile

equipment (TME). Basic checklists were used during the

field-work phase to identify OHS-related risks specific to

TME design and operation.  

Aspects covered during the field work included:

• TME engineering design;

• Operator cabin design and vehicle ergonomics;

• Occupational hygiene exposure to noise, dust, diesel

fumes, and heat;

• Safety practices in trackless sections, including

evaluation of trackless COP; and

• Driver interviews. 

Analysis of field work findings revealed a number of

designs, operational and environmental concerns with

regard to TME. Outcomes of this project will be

communicated to the industry.

SIM 04 03 01 ‘Evaluation of the design criteria of

regular-spaced dip pillars (RSDP) based on their in-

situ performance’ 

Four areas of work were undertaken for this project:

namely, an integrated analysis of seismicity and

numerical modelling of mine deformations; moment

tensor solutions; measurement and interpretation of tilt

recordings; and strong ground studies. The seismic-

modelling integration data provided most of the results

to meet the requirements of the primary outputs.

The main result of this study was that the Energy Release

Rate (ERR) was shown to be a robust measure of the

amount of seismicity per area mined under a range of

conditions and therefore a predictable amount of

additional seismicity would occur under higher ERR

conditions.  Seismicity per strain energy release did not

vary according to the order of mining, even for double-

sided mining, and for panels approaching one another

when mining towards the same pillar.  Delaying mining

activities away from the shaft until mining towards the

shaft is completed does not reduce the average ERR and

did not reduce seismicity significantly. 

The outcomes contribute towards increased knowledge

about rockburst management in specific mining areas.

SIM 04 03 04 ‘Effective face support to minimise

Rockbursts’

This project aims to develop an effective face-support

system for mines with tabular stopes.  The primary

output of this project was to develop a prototype roof

support system and to evaluate it underground.  Mines

with tabular stopes will use the roof support system to

reduce fatalities and injuries in the face area of the

stopes. The roof support system consists of two similar
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support units connected to each other by two cranks.

Each unit consists of a headboard supported by a

“wishbone” structure (top and bottom leg) and a

loading/yielding mechanism that keeps the legs apart.

The yielding mechanism of the preferred prototype

makes use of the “Strata prop”, a commercially available

yielding hydraulic cylinder. 

The system yields to both slow and sudden stope closure

by a combination of elastic deformation in the wishbone

structure and the pressure-relief valve. Rapid yielding is

mainly accommodated by the flexibility of the

“wishbone” structure, and this also gives the system the

necessary rebound, since stopes do not only undergo

monotonic closure during a seismic event.  

The system is therefore more likely to stay in place,

providing support resistance and energy absorption

during the critical moments of the rockburst.  The

yielding mechanism is made from steel, while the two

legs of the “wishbone” and the headboard are

manufactured from glass fibre. 

Once adopted underground, the support system could

contribute in the reduction of rockburst and rockfall

accidents.

SIM 06 09 04 ‘A review of safety related leading

indicators with reference to SA mining industry’

Leading indicators are parameters or measurements that

can indicate a hazard before a loss-causing incident

occurs. They are process-based measures focussing on

the safety process, while traditional lagging indicators

are outcomes-based measures focussing on past

injuries/fatalities. Leading indicators are metrics

associated with proactive activities conducted to identify

hazards and assess, eliminate, minimise and control

occupational health and safety risks. 

The research undertaken in this project has shown that

simply identifying the immediate causes of mine

accidents in order to determine operational leading

indicators or precursors is short-sighted. Rather, one

needs to develop the underlying systemic/strategic

leading indicators at corporate/management level. 

What has became abundantly clear in the literature is

that the development of leading indicators is very site

specific. Leading indicators cannot be applied

universally. They are operation-specific and often need

to be tailored to local conditions.

SIM 05 02 04 ‘Rock bolt condition monitoring using

ultrasonic guided waves’

The integrity of rock bolts is a critical issue for the

mining industry because of its influence on the safety of

mining operations. Different research groups around the

world have addressed the problem of determining rock-

bolt integrity. The most promising technique found in the

literature study was based on guided ultrasonic waves

(Beard and Lowe, 2003). This study extended the

previous work by Beard and Lowe (2003) using guided

ultrasonic waves, to investigate damage in more realistic

embedded bolts that deviate from pure cylinders. More

than 16 million rock bolts are installed each year in

South African mines. Of these, 45 percent are resin

anchored bolts. 

The new information about support integrity testing

does increase knowledge of rock-bolt support and

could contribute towards the reduction of rockfall

accidents.

SIM 04 04 03 ‘Role of static electricity in the ignition

of flammable gases and mine fires’

The safety statistics showed that, worldwide, mine fires

and explosions resulted in multiple mine fatalities.  The

analysis showed that where the cause of ignition of fires

and explosions was inconclusive, static electricity was

mentioned as a potential cause of ignition of fire and

explosion. Only two records were found where static

electricity was explicitly identified as the source of

ignition of fire and subsequent explosion.  Whilst the

South African safety statistics identified no incidences

where static electricity was the direct or potential cause

of explosions or fires, the worldwide scan did identify

that static electrical charges had ignited gas explosions.

In the South African mining industry codes of practice

relating to flammable gas focus primarily on identifying

the sources of flammable gas and the actions required to

prevent an accumulation of gases.  In the codes of

practice static electricity is mentioned as a possible

source of ignition of gases.

SIM 06 05 03 ‘Electrical accidents in SA mines’

The analysis indicated that the fatalities and injuries

caused by electrical accidents have decreased in the past

five years to about two-thirds of previous years. About

two-thirds of the fatalities and injuries occur on the

surface. Approximately one-third of the electrical

accidents take place in sub-stations. The occupations

most at risk are electrical practitioners, namely electrical
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aides, electricians, electrical technicians and foremen.

Most of the electrical practitioners are middle-aged and

have reasonable experience. Other accidents cover a

wide range of occupations and activities and occur in a

wide range of sites.  The level of skills of the persons

involved ranges from unskilled; semi-skilled to skilled.

Most accidents occur during normal working hours or

where supervision should be available.

SIM 02 02 01b ‘Development of a prototype

Mechanical Jaws safety tool’

Further work was developed in this project based on

research done on the “mechanical jaws” concept under

project SIM 02 02 01. After evaluating the experimental

development model underground, the specification was

reviewed.  A detailed design of the prototype was made

and the prototype was built and evaluated on the surface

and underground in different coal and platinum mines.

The underground evaluations showed that the

mechanical “jaws” can be successfully used for ‘making

safe’. The equipment is designed to reduce exposure to

falls of ground, and to assist in reducing operator stress

and fatigue.  The “mechanical jaws” will have an impact

in addressing rock fall fatalities and injuries associated

with making safe or barring activities. 

If adopted, the developed tool could improve rockfall

management with increased possibility to reduce

related accidents.

SIM 05 05 01 B2.1 ‘Noise measurement and control

on axial fans and scrubbers’

A literature survey on techniques that are currently being

used for mostly passive noise control in the industry was

reviewed. This includes methods such as unconstrained

and constrained layer damping, the use of acoustic

absorbent material, vibration isolation pads, dissipative

silencers, machine enclosure, and active noise control.

The applicability of these techniques was evaluated for

use on axial fans and scrubbers.  Attention was also

given to issues such as flow optimisation and the role of

fan speed. 

The Kloppersbos Test Facility was utilised to measure

sound pressure levels. Sound pressure level

measurements were subsequently done on two different

7.5 kW axial fans, one with and the other without a

silencer.  In addition to the sound pressure level

measurements, the units were also subjected to surface

vibration velocity measurements, and the vibration levels

for the scrubber’s fan was comparable to the fan without

the silencers; however, the scrubber box experienced

considerably higher vibration levels. A sound intensity

measurement system was implemented with which the

magnitude and direction of the sound intensity can be

measured at a point in space.  These results generally

confirmed the dominance of the fan and scrubber inlets

and exhausts over noise radiated from the housings,

especially at the blade passing tones. 

The recommendations made on reducing the noise

levels of the fans and the scrubber using passive

noise reduction methods, if adopted, can reduce

Noise-Induced Hearing Loss.

SIM 05 05 01 B2.2 ‘New technologies for noise

controls (other noise sources)’

An investigation including a literature study was

conducted to establish how new technologies can be

used to reduce noise levels in mines, specifically

emphasising active noise control.  Two active noise

control techniques were studied in more detail: active

noise cancellation (ANC) and active structural acoustic

control (ASAC).  ANC is a technique that works well in

the low frequency range on noise with high tonal

content, although it may also be successfully used with

relative ease on narrow band random noise.  At higher

frequencies the use of ANC becomes more problematic,

especially to reduce noise globally in an enclosed space.

ASAC is a technique where a plate or shell-like structure

that is vibrating, and hence is emitting noise, is equipped

with film-type actuators on its surfaces that are then

controlled to reduce the vibration of the plate, thus

reducing the noise in the far field, away from the plate.  

It was established that the ANC has little potential to

reduce noise in mines on a global level, but that the

combination of ANC, passive noise absorption

techniques and the use of directional hearing devices to

develop special hearing protective headsets, has very

good potential to solve the severe noise problems in

mining. This is dependent on resolving the problems

associated with the wearing of these headsets in high

temperature environments.  

ASAC has the potential to reduce noise emitted from

scrubbers and in containing noise inside special

machine enclosures.
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Other projects that form part of the Occupational

Safety Programme are:

Evaluation of shotcrete performance:

• To provide a methodology for the design of shotcrete

for application in underground mines.

Rockfall Elimination Programme - Measuring and

monitoring to reduce the rockfall risk: 

• Design an effective monitoring system and

methodology to provide an early indication of

impending rockfall / instability.

Rockfall Elimination Programme - Managing the

rockfall risk and the value of spending to:

• Develop computer software to determine the cost

benefit of employing various support strategies.

Rockfall Elimination Programme - Review of current

practice to address rockfalls to:

• Critically review the law, regulations and codes of

practice guidelines that pertain to rockfalls in order to

produce leading practices to reduce the risks posed

by rockfalls.

Technology Transfer facility to promote rockfall and

rockburst control to:

• Ensure the effective maintenance of the testing facility.

Managing Rockburst Risk  to:

• Improve existing methods and best practices and

investigate new approaches to the rockburst hazard.

Improved ventilation of Continuous Miner Headings

in coal mines  to:

• Develop an improved ventilation system for on-board

CM scrubbers.

NIHL Elimination Programme - Quiet Rock Drill to:

• Develop a system to reduce the noise from current

rock-drill equipment.

NIHL Elimination Programme - New Technologies for

Drill to:

• Investigate new technologies for drilling and select

the most appropriate.

NIHL Elimination Programme - Other Noise Sources to:

• Develop the standard for noise testing on the surface

and underground.

NIHL Elimination Programme - Education / Training /

Promotion to:

• Develop material in suitable language mediums so

that the employees are aware of the various sources

of noise and the appropriate action to prevent

damage to their ears.

Best Practice Guide for Scraper Winches to:

• Provide best practice guideline document.

2.1.4 Develop a Human Factor Research Programme

Although a programme of work was scoped and

gazetted for the 2008/2009 period, proposals were only

received in the last quarter of the financial year. During

this time there was an overlap with the

recommendations stemming from the Tripartite

Leadership Summit held in September 2008. The scope

of work has now been transferred to the 2009/2010

research programme.

2.1.5  Develop a framework for the development of

new centres of excellence and support of

existing ones on key OHS issues

The development of the terms of reference for the

framework is underway as part of the outcomes

stemming from the Tripartite Summit Leadership held in

September 2008.

2.2 Implementation of research outcomes

There is a review under way to determine which of the

existing research has been effectively transferred to the

end-users. Engagement with individual stakeholders is

ongoing to ascertain the status. This document will then

be used as the basis to determine the extent of the issue

at hand and to guide the development of the strategy. A

new research process proposal was presented to and

accepted by the MHSC in October 2008. The focus for

the year was to streamline current research processes

on an operational level. Once this has been achieved,

focus will then be on the implementation plan.



2.3 Support the Mining Inspectorate to drive OHS

2.3.1 Assist in the development of regulatory tools

Progress was made on the following regulatory tools:

• Guidelines for work-related upper limb disorders.

• Minimum standards of fitness guidelines.

• Guideline on risk-based medical surveillance.

• Guideline for the compilation of a mandatory code of

practice for the assessment of personal exposure to

airborne pollutants.

• Workers' incapacity due to ill health and injuries.

• Emergency care/ first-aid medical surveillance of

contractors.

A report will be issued on the status of research

outcomes and the impact on legislative changes. An

analysis of the Presidential Mine Health and Safety Audit

report was concluded to assess gaps in compliance.

2.3.2  Support the development of monitoring

systems

There was no support on the development of the

monitoring systems.

2.3.3  Support reactive research (Investigations and

Inquiries)

The support was provided in an investigation into the

fracture of the steel wire hoist rope from the Gold Fields

South Deep Mine accident.  A service level agreement

(SLA) has been developed and sent to organisations

whose services would provide assistance with

investigations and enquiries. The SLA ensures that the

services of these companies can be timeously secured

whenever investigative assistance is required.  

Strategic Objective 3 
Advise the Minister on Mining Health
and Safety Issues

The MHSC is mandated to facilitate scheduled leadership

dialogues between its tripartite stakeholders and the

Minister, and to advise the Minister on OHS legislation to

improve health and safety at mines. 

The following key activities were undertaken during the

2008/09 reporting period: 

Performance

3.1.  Advise Minister on various OHS issues on a

scheduled basis

3.1.1 Give advice to the Minister on key OHS issues

The sub-activity was achieved through the submission of

quarterly reports to the Minister. Following the

completion of the Presidential Mine Health and Safety

Audit, an action plan to address the audit

recommendations was developed and agreed to by

stakeholders. This action plan has been included in the

MHSC Strategic Plan for 2009-2012. 

3.1.2  Facilitate Tripartite Leadership dialogues with

the Minister

A Tripartite Leadership Summit was held on 5 September

2008. The summit focused on the following topics:

Leadership and culture; learning industry and capacity

development; and healthy and safe workplaces. A plan

has been developed to implement the leadership summit

action plan. The plan has been included in the MHSC

Strategic Plan for 2009-2012. The priorities are

summarised in the table below: 
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Occupational Health and Safety

Culture

Learning industry Safer and healthier workplaces

Implement culture transformation
framework
• Develop
• Popularise
• Do gap analysis (companies)
• Report (companies)
• Assess the culture transformation 

Establish Centre of Excellence for
research, research implementation
and capacity-building focusing on:
• Human factors
• Rock engineering
• Mining
• Engineering
• Occupational health/

hygiene

Eliminate Silicosis
• Develop new dust measurement

strategy
Eliminate NIHL
• Do research to help eliminate NIHL
Eliminate Falls of Ground
• Review falls of ground regulatory

mechanisms
• Do research to help eliminate FOG
Eliminate transport and machinery
accidents
• Do research to eliminate transport

and machinery accidents  

Tripartite Leadership Summit Action Plan Priorities



MHSC Annual Report 2008/2009 36

3.1.3 Advice to the Minister on Legislative Issues

No regulatory advice was provided to the Minister during

the reporting period. Submissions were made to the

Minister on the Mine Health and Safety Amendment Bill.

Issues contributing to the delays in finalising the

Legislative Review are being addressed by the MHSC

and a process plan has been put in place.    

Occupational Health and Safety

Culture

Learning industry Safer and healthier workplaces

Improve tripartite relations
• Arrange dialogues in troubled

regions
• Review DME enforcement

guideline 
• Develop accident investigation

guideline
• Develop guideline on right to

refuse dangerous work
• Ensure health and safety is a

critical part of incentive schemes

Improve OHS capacity
• Develop OHS qualifications

framework
• Train 40 000 health and safety

representatives, shop stewards
and strengthen their role

• Develop OHS training programme
for supervisors

• Develop strategy to attract, train
and retain OHS professionals (rock
engineers, safety professionals,
occupational hygienists,
occupational medical practitioners)

• Develop strategy to attract, train
and retain MHS inspectors

Improve lifestyle of mine workers
focusing on:
• Improve quality of accommodation
• Improve quality of nutrition
• Improve recreational facilities
• Improve HIV and AIDS

collaboration with government

Ensure implementation of summit
commitments
• Evaluate progress on previous

summit commitments

Reduce illiteracy in the mining
sector
• Adopt and implement existing

strategy to reduce rate of illiteracy

Integrate and simplify
compensation system
• Establish a multi-stakeholder team

to review the compensation
system

Increase scarce skills that are
critical to OHS 
• Develop strategy to address skills

shortage

Leadership Summit Action Plan
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Strategic Objective 4 
Promote the Development of OHS
Capacity

The MHSC is mandated to facilitate skills development

for groupings identified in the MHSA. 

Performance

During the 2008/9 financial period, the MHSC focused on

two sub-activities to fulfill this mandate:

4.1.1  Regular assessment of Occupational Health and

Safety Capacity in the Sector

The MQA conducts regular assessments of skills capacity

in the sector through an analysis of the Workplace Skills

Plans (WSPs) and by conducting a survey of a sample of

companies that had not submitted WSPs. Although most

of the companies who submit WPSs are large companies

employing 150 or more people, the survey is concerned

mainly with companies that employ fewer than 150

people.  

The problem with non-submission of WSP’s will be

overcome with the promulgation of the MHS

Amendment Act.  

4.1.2  Liaise with MQA on Occupational Health and

Safety Capacity Issues

A close working partnership has been developed with

the MQA with regular meetings held between the MHSC

and MQA management. 

The MQA/MHSC focus is on the implementation of the

Tripartite Leadership Summit Action Plan and the

Presidential Audit Recommendations. The activities and

progress to date is summarised below. 

Minister Buyelwa Sonjica signing the pledge NUM's Senzeni Zokwana signing the pledge

Thabo Gazi, Chairperson of Mine Health and Safety Council Chamber of Mines' Sipho Nkosi signing the pledge
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Objectives Progress to date

1. Improve OHS capacity
• Develop OHS qualifications framework
• Train 40 000 health and safety

representatives, shop stewards and
strengthen their role

• Develop OHS training programme for
supervisors

• Develop strategy to attract, train and retain
OHS professionals (rock engineers, safety
professionals, occupational hygienists,
occupational medical practitioners)

• Develop strategy to attract, train and retain
mine health and safety inspectors. 

• A list of learning programmes, learnerships and skills
programmes has been provided to MHSC members for them to
identify gaps that may need to be investigated by the Technical
Reference Group   

• The current, registered OHS Skills programme is being rolled
out whilst a review is in progress

• A five-year roll-out plan has been developed and costs
estimated to ensure that OHS reps and OHS shop stewards are
trained 

• Level 2 OHS qualification has been reviewed and registered  
• Unit standards have been replaced with the new ones and

learning materials adapted  
• The MQA communicated with employers and accredited service

providers informing them of the implementation of this skills
programme and conducted a briefing session in February 2009.  

• MQA and DME have identified a number of unit standards from
the DoL OHS inspector qualification. 

2. Reduce illiteracy in the mining sector
• Adopt and implement existing strategy to

reduce rate of illiteracy.

• The MQA is currently driving a process to reduce illiteracy in the
mining industry. The language policy is being discussed and will
be implemented after completion.

Tripartite leaders September 2008 Tripartite Leadership Summit discussions
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Strategic Objective 5 
Ensure the Effective Operation of the
Council

The MHSC has identified the following key and sub-

activities to support the objective of ensuring its effective

operation:

Develop and implement a governance structure that is

accountable

• Implement the recommendations of the

restructuring review

• Develop an interactive Website

• Develop an Internal Management System

Performance

5.1  Implement the recommendations of the re-

structuring review

The MHSC appointed the CEO, CFO and CROO during

the third quarter of the 2008/9 financial year. An

extensive HR review was undertaken, which included the

following:

• General Human Resources

• Review of business process to identify

opportunities for efficiencies in HR Administration. 

• Review and revise all HR policies. 

• Recommend key HR posts.

• Update job descriptions.

• People Management

• Establish a new performance management system. 

• Identify the competencies required within the

organisation. 

• Remuneration and reward 

• Develop a policy on recognition and reward that

supports the organisational strategy. 

• Undertake job evaluation and grading.

5.2 Set up an interactive Website

The MHSC’s website was refurbished and re-launched in

July 2008. The website is accessible on link

http://www.mhsc.org.za. More than 370 final research

reports, risk assessments, and downloadable booklets

are available on the website. Final research reports are

available under nine thrust areas focused on Behavioural

Safety, Rock Falls, Rock Bursts, Explosions and Fires,

Machinery and Transportation Systems, Airborne

Pollutants, Physical Hazards, Occupational Diseases, and

Special Projects.

Proprietary research information that was developed by

the MHSC is protected against unfair usage and

infringement by means of appropriate terms of usage

and disclaimers.  A new server has been acquired that

will enhance the functionality of the website.

5.3 Set up an Internal Management System (MIS)

An effective management information system is essential

for the MHSC to fulfil its mandate. Both the Mine Health

and Safety Inspectorate (MHSI) and the MHSC are

currently supported by a number of fragmented small,

systems, that do not effectively support the

organisation’s business needs.  

In an in-depth study in 2008, the MHSI business

requirements were analysed and a proposal made that the

existing systems be replaced with a new, fully-integrated

system.  The functional requirements of the system were

developed.  After a tender process, the contract for the

development of the new system was awarded. 

The MHSC also advertised a tender for the acquisition of

the MIS. Given the similarities between the system

requirements for the two organisations, an agreement

was reached for the MHSC requirements to be included

in the MHSI system. System installation has already

commenced, and a new server has been acquired to

accommodate the new system.
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Statement of Responsibility for the
year ended March 2009

The Public Finance Management Act (Act No. 1 of 1999)

(PFMA), as amended, requires the Council members to

ensure that the Mine Health and Safety Council maintains

a full and proper record of its financial affairs. The Annual

Financial Statements should fairly present the state of

affairs of the Mine Health and Safety Council (MHSC), its

financial results, its performance against predetermined

objectives and its financial position at the end of the year

in terms of the Generally Recognised Accounting Practice

and Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (GAAP).

The Annual Financial Statements are the responsibility of

the Council members.  The external auditors are

responsible for independently auditing and reporting on

the financial statements.  The Office of the Auditor-

General has audited the MHSC’s financial statements and

the Auditor-General’s report appears on page 44. 

The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared in

accordance with Statements of Generally Recognised

Accounting Practice and Generally Accepted Accounting

Practice (GAAP). These Annual Financial Statements are

based on appropriate accounting policies, supported by

reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The Council members have reviewed the MHSC’s budget

and cash flow forecasts for the year ended 31 March

2009.  On the basis of this review, and in view of the

current financial position, the members, with the

concurrence of the auditors, have every reason to believe

that the MHSC will be a going concern in the year ahead.

The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared on

this basis.

To enable the Council members to meet the above

responsibilities, the MHSC sets standards and

implements systems of internal control and risk

management that are designed to provide reasonable,

but not absolute, assurance against material

misstatements and losses.  The entity maintains internal

financial controls to provide assurance regarding:

• The safeguarding of assets against unauthorised use or

disposition, 

• The maintenance of proper accounting records and the

reliability of financial information used within the

business, or for publication.

The controls contain self-monitoring mechanisms, and

actions are taken to correct deficiencies as they are

identified.  A system of internal control, however, no

matter how well designed, has inherent limitations,

including the possibility of circumvention or the

overriding of controls.  An effective system of internal

control therefore aims to provide reasonable assurance

with respect to the reliability of financial information

and, in particular, the presentation of financial

statements.  Furthermore, because of changes in

conditions, the effectiveness of internal financial

controls may vary over time. 

The Council members have reviewed the entity’s

systems of internal control and risk management for the

period from 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2009.  The Council

members are of the opinion that the entity’s systems of

internal control and risk management were effective for

the period under review, other than for the issues

highlighted in the Council report under control systems

and record keeping and non-compliance to the PFMA.

In the opinion of the members of the Council, based on

the information available to date, the Annual Financial

Statements fairly present the financial position of the

MHSC as at 31 March 2009 and the results of its

operations and cash flow information for the year. It is

the opinion of the members of Council that acceptable

Codes of Business Conduct have been adhered to.

The Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31

March 2009, as set out on pages 51 to 75, were

approved by the Council in terms of section 51(1)(f) of

the Public Finance Management Act (Act No. 1 of 1999),

as amended,  are signed on its behalf by:

T Gazi

Chairperson of the Mine Health and Safety Council

31st July 2009

P Maruping

Chief Executive Officer of the Mine Health and Safety

Council,  31st July 2009
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Report of the Auditor-General to 
Parliament on the Financial 
Statements and Performance 
Information of the Mine Health and
Safety Council for the year ended 
31 March 2009

Report on the Financial Statements

Introduction

1. I have audited the accompanying financial statements

of the Mine Health and Safety Council, which

comprise the statement of financial position as at 

31 March 2009, and the statement of financial

performance and statement of changes in net assets

and the cash flow statement for the year then ended,

and a summary of significant accounting policies and

other explanatory notes, and the accounting

authority’s report, as set out on pages 51 to 75.

The accounting authority’s responsibility for the

financial statements

2. The accounting authority is responsible for the

preparation and fair presentation of these financial

statements in accordance with basis of accounting

determined by National Treasury, as set out in the

accounting policy note 1 to the financial statements

determined in the manner required by the Public

Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999)

and the Companies Act of South Africa and for such

internal control as the accounting authority

determines is necessary to enable the preparation of

financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

The Auditor-General’s responsibility

3. As required by section 188 of the Constitution of the

Republic of South Africa, 1996 read with section 4 of

the Public Audit Act, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004, my

responsibility is to express an opinion on these

financial statements based on my audit.

4. I conducted my audit in accordance with the

International Standards on Auditing read with

General Notice 616 of 2008, issued in Government

Gazette No. 31057 of 15 May 2008. Those standards

require that I comply with ethical requirements and

plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable

assurance about whether the financial statements are

free from material misstatement.

5. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain

audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in

the financial statements. The procedures selected

depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of

the financial statements, whether due to fraud or

error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor

considers internal control relevant to the entity’s

preparation and fair presentation of the financial

statements in order to design audit procedures that

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the

purpose of expressing an opinion on the

effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 

6. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness

of accounting policies used and the reasonableness

of accounting estimates made by management, as

well as evaluating the overall presentation of the

financial statements.

7. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my

audit opinion.

Opinion

8. In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly,

in all material respects, the financial position of the

Mine Health and Safety Council as at 31 March 2009,

and its financial performance and its cash flows for

the year then ended, in accordance with the basis of

accounting and in the manner required by the PFMA.

Basis of accounting

9. Without qualifying my opinion, I draw attention to

accounting policy note 1 to the financial statements,

which describes the basis of accounting. The Council’s

policy is to prepare financial statements on the basis

of accounting determined by the National Treasury.

Other matters

I draw attention to the following matters that relate to my

responsibilities in the audit of the financial statements:

Non-compliance with applicable legislation

10. For the year under review the following cases of non-

compliance with applicable legislation were noted:

Public Finance Management Act

11. The entity did not operate effective, efficient and

transparent systems of financial and risk

management and internal control as required by
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section 51(a)(i) of the PFMA , as there was no

documented processes to identify and record related

party transactions and a risk assessment process was

not finalised for the financial year. 

12. An internal audit function under the control and

direction of the audit committee, as required by

Section 51 (a)(ii) of PFMA was not operational

throughout the financial year.

.

Treasury Regulations

13. The entity did not comply with the following

requirements of the Treasury Regulations relating to

Supply Chain Management:

• Minutes of meetings were not kept to verify

compliance with the requirements of Treasury

Regulation 16A6.2.

• The publishing of bids and awards in the

Government Tender Bulletin as required by

Treasury Regulation 16A6.3 was not done.

• No documentary evidence was available to

evaluate compliance with the National Treasury’s

Code of conduct for Supply Chain Management

Practitioners as required by Treasury Regulation

16A8.2.

Governance framework

14. The governance principles that impact the auditor’s

opinion on the financial statements are related to the

responsibilities and practices exercised by the

accounting authority and executive management and

are reflected in the internal control deficiencies and

key governance responsibilities addressed below:

Matters of governance

15. The PFMA tasks the accounting authority with a

number of responsibilities concerning financial and

risk management and internal control. Fundamental

to achieving this is the implementation of key

governance responsibilities, which I have assessed as

follows:

No. Matter Y N

Clear trail of supporting documentation that is easily available and provided in a timely manner

1. No significant difficulties were experienced during the audit concerning delays or the availability
of requested information.

�

Quality of financial statements and related management information

2. The financial statements were not subject to any material amendments resulting from the audit. �

3. The annual report was submitted for consideration prior to the tabling of the auditor’s report. �

Timeliness of financial statements and management information

4. The annual financial statements were submitted for auditing as per the legislated deadlines as
set out in section 55 of the PFMA.

�

Availability of key officials during audit

5. Key officials were available throughout the audit process. �

Development and compliance with risk management, effective internal control and governance practices

6. Audit committee

The entity had an audit committee in operation throughout the financial year. �

The audit committee operates in accordance with approved, written terms of reference. �

The audit committee substantially fulfilled its responsibilities for the year, as set out in section 77
of the PFMA and Treasury Regulation 27.1.8.

�

7. Internal audit

The entity had an internal audit function in operation throughout the financial year. �

The internal audit function operates in terms of an approved internal audit plan. �

The internal audit function substantially fulfilled its responsibilities for the year, as set out in
Treasury Regulation 27.2.

�

8. There are no significant deficiencies in the design and implementation of internal control in
respect of financial and risk management.

�

9. There are no significant deficiencies in the design and implementation of internal control in
respect of compliance with applicable laws and regulations. 

�

10. The information systems were appropriate to facilitate the preparation of the financial
statements.

�

11. A risk assessment was conducted on a regular basis and a risk management strategy, which
includes a fraud prevention plan, is documented and used as set out in Treasury Regulation 27.2.

�

12. Powers and duties have been assigned, as set out in section 56 of the PFMA. �
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16. There were several matters impacting on the

governance of the entity in the financial year. As a

result of this, there was a delay in the appointment of

internal auditors which, in turn, impacted on the

financial management and effectiveness of the

internal controls of the entity.

Report on other Legal and Regulatory
Requirements

Report on performance information

17. I have reviewed the performance information as set

out on pages 16 to 39.

The accounting authority’s responsibility for the

performance information

The accounting authority has additional responsibilities

as required by section 55(2) (a) of the PFMA to ensure

that the annual report and audited financial statements

fairly present the performance against predetermined

objectives of the public entity.

The Auditor-General’s responsibility

18. I conducted my engagement in accordance with

section 13 of the PAA read with General Notice 616 of

2008, issued in Government Gazette No. 31057 of 15

May 2008.

19. In terms of the foregoing, my engagement included

performing procedures of an audit nature to obtain

sufficient appropriate evidence about the

performance information and related systems,

processes and procedures. The procedures selected

depend on the auditor’s judgement.

20. I believe that the evidence I have obtained is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for the

findings reported below. 

Findings on performance information

Non-compliance with regulatory requirements

Lack of effective, efficient and transparent systems

and internal controls regarding performance

management

21. The accounting authority did not ensure that the Mine

Health and Safety Council has and maintains an

effective, efficient and transparent system and

internal controls regarding performance

management, which describe and represent how the

entity’s processes of performance planning,

monitoring, measurement, review and reporting will

be conducted, organised and managed, as required in

terms of section 51(1)(a)(i) of the PFMA.

Appreciation

The assistance rendered by the staff of the Mine Health

and Safety Council during the audit is sincerely

appreciated.

Pretoria

31 July 2009

No. Matter Y N

Follow-up of audit findings

13. The prior year audit findings have been substantially addressed. �

Issues relating to the reporting of performance information

15. The information systems were appropriate to facilitate the preparation of a performance report
that is accurate and complete.

�

16. Adequate control processes and procedures are designed and implemented to ensure the
accuracy and completeness of reported performance information.

�

17. A strategic plan was prepared and approved for the financial year under review for purposes of
monitoring the performance in relation to the budget and delivery by the Mine Health and Safety
Council against its mandate, predetermined objectives, outputs, indicators and targets as set out
in Treasury Regulation 29.1.

�

18. There is a functioning performance management system and performance bonuses are only paid
after proper assessment and approval by those charged with governance.

�

Auditing to build public confidence

S O U T H  A F R I C A
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Report of the Mine Health and Safety
Council Audit Committee for the year
ended 31 March 2009 

We are pleased to present our report for the financial

year ended 31 March 2009.

Audit Committee Members and Attendance: 

The Audit Committee consists of the members listed

hereunder and meets at least four times per annum as

per its approved terms of reference.  During the current

year, six meetings were held.

Name of Member No of No of
Meetings Held Meetings

Attended
Dr D Konar (Chairman) 6 5
Mr C Rivett-Carnac              6 3
Ms P Mnisi           6 2
M Matlala 6 3
D Daya 6 1
J Winson              6 1
T Motitimi 6 1
T Letanta 6 1

Audit Committee responsibility

The Audit Committee reports that it has complied with its

responsibilities arising from section 51(1)(a) of the Public

Finance Management Act (PFMA), as amended, and

Treasury Regulations 27.1.7 and 21.1.10(b) and (c). 

s51(1)(a)(ii) of the PFMA states the following:

(a)   The accounting authority must ensure that the public

entity has and maintains – 

(i) effective, efficient and transparent systems of

financial and risk management and internal control;

(ii) a system of internal audit under the control and

direction of an Audit Committee complying with

and operating in accordance with regulations and

instructions prescribed in terms of sections 76

and 77, and

(iii) an appropriate procurement and provisioning

system which is fair, equitable, transparent,

competitive and cost effective.

The Audit Committee also reports that it has adopted

appropriate formal terms of reference as its Audit

Committee Charter, has regulated its affairs in

compliance with this Charter and has discharged all its

responsibilities as contained therein.

The effectiveness of internal control

The Audit Committee is of the opinion, based on the

information and explanations given by management and

the internal auditors and discussions with the independent

external auditors on the results of their audits and the

status in addressing the matters raised, that the internal

accounting controls are operating satisfactorily to ensure

that the financial records may be relied upon for preparing

the annual financial statements, and accountability for

assets and liabilities is maintained.

Nothing significant has come to the attention of the Audit

Committee to indicate that any material breakdown in the

functioning of these controls, procedures and systems has

occurred during the year under review.

The quality of in-year management and monthly

and quarterly reports submitted in terms of the

PFMA

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the content and

quality of monthly and quarterly reports prepared and

issued by the Council during the year under review.

Evaluation of financial statements

The Audit Committee has:

• Reviewed and discussed the audited annual financial

statements to be included in the annual report with

the independent external auditors and the Accounting

Authority;

• Reviewed the independent external auditors’ manage -

ment letter and management’s response thereto;

• Reviewed changes in accounting policies and

practices; and

• Reviewed significant adjustments resulting from the

audit.

The Audit Committee concurs and accepts the independent

external auditors’ conclusions on the annual financial

statements, and is of the opinion that the audited annual

financial statements should be accepted and read together

with the report of the independent external auditors.

Dr D Konar 

Chairperson of the Audit Committee 

31 July 2009
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Corporate Governance Statement for
the year ended 31 March 2009

Introduction

Corporate governance is concerned with the

organisational arrangements that have been put in place

to provide an appropriate set of checks and balances

within which the stewards of the Council operate.  The

objective is to ensure that those to whom the stakeholders

entrust the direction and success of the Council act in the

best interest of these stakeholders.

The Mine Health and Safety Council ensures that its

processes and practices are reviewed on an ongoing basis

to ensure adherence to good corporate governance

practices, which are continually benchmarked against

international practices.

The members of Council believe that it has substantially

applied and complied with the principles incorporated in

the Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct as set out in

the King Report on Corporate Governance for South

Africa 2002 (King II Report), as well as the Protocol on

Corporate Governance in the Public Sector 2003.

Stakeholders

In addition to the interests of the State, Employees and

Employers, the Mine Health and Safety Council

acknowledges the interests of other stakeholders,

including employees in the Council office, creditors,

customers, suppliers and service providers.

The entity regularly communicates with all stakeholders

on material matters of significant interest and concern to

stakeholders.  The information  furnished  to  stakeholders

conforms  to  the  criteria  of  promptness,  openness,

substance  over  form,  relevance,  clarity, effectiveness,

transparency and objectivity.  

The Mine Health and Safety Council places great emphasis

on reporting on both financial and non-financial matters,

as well as addressing both positive and negative aspects.

Governing Bodies

The Council is a statutory entity established and governed

in terms of the Mine Health and Safety Act (Act No. 29 of

1996) (MHSA) and is listed as a public entity in terms of

the Public Finance Management Act (Act No. 1 of 1999)

(PFMA).  Its executive authority is the Minister of Minerals

and Energy.

The Council adheres to the requirements of the Public

Finance Management Act, and applies the South African

Statements of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice

(GRAP) and Generally Accepted Accounting Practice

(GAAP) in presenting its Annual Financial Statements.

The members of the Council are appointed by the Minister

of Minerals and Energy.  In terms of the MHSA, five

members represent Departments of the State, five

represent employees of mines and five represent mine

employers.  The Chairperson of the Council is the Chief

Inspector of Mines.

Functions and duties of the Mine Health and

Safety Council (MHSC)

In terms of Section 43 of the MHSA, the Council must:

a. Advise the Minister on health and safety at mines

including, but not limited to, any regulations on mine

rehabilitation in so far as they concern health and

safety;

b. Co-ordinate the activities of its committees, receive

reports from the committees and liaise with the

Mining Qualifications Authority on matters relating to

health and safety;

c.  Liaise with any other statutory bodies concerned with

matters relating to health and safety;

d. Promote a culture of health and safety in the mining

industry;

e. Arrange and co-ordinate a tripartite summit to review

the state of health and safety at mines at least once

every two years; and 

f. Perform every duty imposed upon the Council in

terms of the MHSA.

In terms of the MHSA, the Council has the following

permanent committees assisting with the performance of

its duties:

Safety in Mines Research Advisory Committee

(SIMRAC)

In terms of the MHSA, SIMRAC is required to advise the

Council on:

a. The criteria for determining the funding of health



MHSC Annual Report 2008/2009 49

and safety research;

b. The need for research into health and safety at mines;

c. The costs, ratification, assessment and execution of

research projects;

d. Communication and publication of research results;

and 

e. The management of the research programme.

In addition, SIMRAC must prepare the overall programme

for relevant health and safety research.

Mining Regulation Advisory Committee (MRAC)

In terms of the MHSA, MRAC is required to advise the

Council on:

a. Proposed changes to legislation to improve health or

safety at mines;

b. Proposals for changes to legislation made by any

other committee of the Council;

c. Guidelines for Codes of Practice; and

d. Standards approved by the South African Bureau of

Standards.

Mining Occupational Health Advisory

Committee (MOHAC)

In terms of the MHSA, MOHAC is required to advise the

Council on:

a. Policy relating to health;

b. Standard systems and procedures for assessing,

avoiding, controlling and minimising health risks;

c. Regulations on any aspect of health;

d. Health research; and

e. Collecting, processing and distributing health data in

the mining industry.

MHSC Audit Committee

The MHSC Audit Committee is responsible for improving

management reporting by overseeing audit functions,

internal controls and the financial reporting process.  The

committee comprises of stakeholder-nominated represent -

atives and is chaired by an independent chairperson.

The MHSC Audit Committee has adopted appropriate

formal terms of reference, which have been approved by

the Council, and have satisfied its responsibilities as set

out in the terms of reference. 

Six meetings were held during the period under review:

Members Replaced by:

D Konar Independent Chairperson

D Daya / J Winson Employer Representative C Rivett – Carnac            

T Letanta / T Motitimi State Representative P Mnisi

M Matlala Labour Representative

Attendance at Meetings

Members of Committees Number of

meetings held

Number of Meetings

Attended

Last Meeting

Attended

D Konar               Independent Chairperson 6 5

C Rivett-Carnac   Employer Representative 6 3

P Mnisi State Representative   6 2

M Matlala Labour Representative  6 3 October 2008

D Daya                 Employer Representative 6 1 April 2008

J Winson              Employer Representative 6 1 May 2008

T Motitimi              State Representative 6 1 July 2008

T Letanta              State Representative 6 1 July 2008
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MHSC HR/Remuneration Committee 

The HR/Remuneration Committee was dissolved during

the year under review. The function is now undertaken by

Council Convenors.

Internal Control

The Council has ultimate responsibility for the system of

internal controls. Towards this end the Council ensures

that the system of internal control, which is embedded in

all key operations, provides reasonable assurance that

the Council’s business objectives will be achieved within

the risk tolerance levels defined by the Council. 

The Council also receives assurance from the MHSC

Audit Committee, which partly derives its information

from regular internal and external audit reports on risk

and internal control matters.

Risk Management

The Council is accountable for the risk management

process, and retains control through the final review of

key risk matters affecting the organisation. The Council is

satisfied that there is an ongoing process for identifying,

evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by

the Council.

A risk management framework and register are in place,

and are reviewed for effectiveness and relevance.

Internal Audit

The Mine Health and Safety Council has an outsourced

internal audit function that has the support and 

cooperation of both the Council and management.  The

internal audit function was established in terms of S51 (1)

(ii) of the PFMA in January 2004. A charter was in place

as stipulated by TR 27.2.5, setting out its purpose,

authority and responsibilities.  The internal audit function

is under the control and direction of the MHSC Audit

Committee and reports at the highest level of authority

and attends all MHSC Audit Committee meetings.  The

internal audit function provides an independent, objective

appraisal and evaluation of the risk management

processes, internal controls and governance processes,

and they identify corrective actions and suggested

enhancements to the controls and processes.

A risk-based audit plan was implemented in the period

under review. The internal audit function coordinates with

other internal and external providers of assurance to

ensure proper coverage and to minimise duplication of

effort.

Going Concern

The Council members have reviewed the Council’s

budget and cash flow forecasts for the year ending 31

March 2009.  On the basis of this review, and in view of

the current financial position, the members, with the

concurrence of the auditors, have every reason to believe

that the Council will be a going concern in the year

ahead.  The Annual Financial Statements have been

prepared on this basis.

Code of Business Conduct

The MHSC Code of Business Conduct was approved on

25 June 2004 and implemented for the period under

review.  The Code provides clear guidance on the

expected behaviour of all employees and underpins the

principles of good governance as outlined by the King II

Report on Corporate Governance.
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Council Report for the year ended 
31 March 2009

Introduction

The members of Council hereby present the audited

Annual Financial Statements of the Council for the year

ended 31 March 2009.

The Mine Health and Safety Council was established, in

terms of the Mine Health and Safety Act (Act No. 29 of

1996), as amended (MHSA), and is listed as a national

public entity under schedule 3A of the Public Finance

Management Act (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA), as

amended. The Council acts as the Accounting Authority

in terms of the PFMA.

Organisational Structure

Following an organisational review exercise, a new

functional structure was implemented to support the

operational requirements of the Council. The key change

was the introduction of three executive positions of Chief

Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Chief

Research and Operations Officer. The review identified

the need for other functions such as Human Resources

and these will be implemented in the next financial year.

The updated organisational structure is contained in the

Annual Report.

Council Principal Activities

In terms of Section 43, of the MHSA the Council must:

• Advise the Minister on health and safety at mines

including, but not limited to, any regulations on mine

rehabilitation in so far as they concern health and

safety;

• Co-ordinate the activities of its committees, receive

reports from the committees and liaise with the

Mining Qualifications Authority on matters relating to

health and safety;

• Liaise with any other statutory bodies concerned with

matters relating to health and safety;

• Promote a culture of health and safety in the mining

industry;

• Arrange and coordinate a tripartite summit to review

the state of health and safety at mines at least once

every two years; and

• Perform every duty imposed upon the Council in

terms of the MHSA.

In addition, the Council’s permanent committee, SIMRAC,

advises the Council on:

• The criteria for determining the funding of health and

safety research;

• The need for research into health and safety at mines;

• The costs, ratification, assessment and execution of

research projects;

• Communication and publication of research results;

and

• The management of the research programme.

Mine Health and Safety Amendment Act 74 

of 2008

The Mine Health and Safety Act of 1996 was amended as

to review and strengthen enforcement provisions; to

simplify the administrative system for the issuing of fines;

to reinforce offences and penalties; to substitute, add and

remove ambiguities in certain definitions and

expressions; and to effect certain amendments necessary

to ensure consistency with other laws, particularly the

Mineral and Petroleum Resources Development Act,

2002. The implementation of the amended Act will have

an impact on the functioning and structure of the Council. 

Management Information System

The Mine Health and Safety Act mandates the Council to

advise the Minister on health and safety matters at

mines. To fulfil this mandate, the Council relies on data

collected and information provided by the Department of

Minerals and Energy (DME). The lack of an effective

information system hampered the MHSC’s effectiveness

to fulfil its mandate. 

The DME and the MHSC are currently supported by a

number of small, fragmented systems that do not

effectively support the business requirements. The DME,

following an in-depth study of the business requirements

of the Mine Health and Safety Inspectorate (MHSI)

procured a new, fully integrated system.

The contract for the development of the new system has 

been awarded.

The MHSC has partnered with the DME, through the MHSI,

to implement the system and it is envisaged that it will

significantly improve the Council’s operations by enhancing

information and performance management. 
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Operating Results 

During the period under review the Council posted a

surplus of R26,1 million (R18,1 million in 2008).

Review of Operations

Levies

The funding required to cover the costs for the research

programme is generated from levies on mines, which is

fixed on an annual basis.

Levies were imposed on approximately 819 mines (2008:

672 mines) during the period under review.   This resulted

in the following amounts being levied:

2009 2008

R’000 R’000

Levies 46 498 44 400

Gold and Platinum 34 706 33 841

Coal 4 894 4 577

Other 6 898 5 982

Research Expenditure

The following research expenditure was incurred:

2009 2008

R’000 R’000

Research Projects 15 619 22 214

OHS culture interventions 0 615

Rock falls 2 888 5 295

Rock bursts 603 2 312

Explosions and fires 484 160

Machinery and transport 704 1 797

Airborne pollutants 6 359 8 664

Occupational diseases 811 1 673

Special projects 3 770 1 698

• Actual research expenditure for the year under review

has decreased by 30% compared to the 2008 financial

year. Plans are being developed to manage the

research process more efficiently, however it must be

noted that payments are done on receipt of reports

and milestones being achieved. Some of the reasons

for the under-expenditure include:

- Projects have had penalties imposed on them due

to poor delivery either due to non-compliance on

contractual issues (e.g. late delivery) or due to

technical issues (e.g. non-delivery against approved

project deliverables). These penalties impact on the

payment schedules. 

- Some projects were started later than originally

planned and as a result the payment schedules that

were included in the original budget were also

negatively impacted. 

Administrative Expenses

As Council members are non-executive members, the

Council has set up an administrative office to assist in the

execution of its duties. This office is funded by the DME

through appropriation, while costs associated with the

administration of the research programme are recovered

from the levy fund.  For the year under review, total

administrative expenses were R20,6 million (2008: R15,6

million), which were funded through a DME contribution

of R4,9 million (2008: R4,6 million), levy contribution of

R6 million (2008: R5,7 million) and the remainder from

interest and administration fines received. 

The 32% increase in expenditure, excluding research

costs, is mainly due to an increase in legal, audit and

consulting fees; and an additional impairment provision

on receivables.

Administrative Fines

Administrative fines are imposed by the MHSI in terms of

Section 55A (1) of the MHSA.  In terms of the Act,

administrative fines collected must be spent on the

promotion of health and safety on mines.   Administrative

fines not utilised accumulate in a separate account.   As

the funds are utilised, they are recognised as income. For

the period under review administrative fines totalling

R0,378 million were utilised (2008: R0,516 million).

Review of Financial Position

Assets

• During the period under review the Council purchased

new assets at a cost of R1,59 million (2008: R0,0191

million).

• The useful lives of the assets were revalued for the

period under review.
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Investments

• Investments increased by R19,8 million from R57,6

million (2008) to R77,3 million.  This increase is due to

a delay in the commencement of projects, which

resulted in a higher level of investments.

Trade and Other Receivables

• Trade and other receivables increased by R5,1 million.

This increase is due to the economic decline that

resulted in mines not paying on time.

Materiality and Significance Framework

A  materiality  and  significance framework for reporting

losses  through  criminal  conduct  and  irregular,

fruitless and  wasteful  expenditure,  as  well  as  for

approval of significant  transactions, as envisaged by

section 54(2)  of  the  PFMA, has been developed and

submitted to the DME.

Income and receivables

The Council relies on the integrity of links between its

invoicing systems and the mining databases SAMRASS

and SAMINDEX to invoice levies.  To ensure accurate

data is used the Council only uses data signed off by the

DME.

Debt Collection Agent

During 1999, a debt collection agency, Financial

Solutions, absconded with R6,2 million levy monies

collected on behalf of the DME. The amount has not been

written off, but was fully provided for in the 2005/6

financial year. The legal process instituted by the DME

and the Council in this regard has not yet been

concluded.

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure incurred during the

period under review is disclosed under note 5.3.

Non-compliance with S51 of the PFMA

The Council achieved significant compliance with the

PFMA for the period under review.

Events Subsequent to Balance Sheet Date

The members of the Council are not aware of any matters

or circumstances arising since the end of the financial

year, not otherwise dealt with in the Annual Financial

Statements, which significantly affect the financial

position of the Council or the results of its operations.

Stakeholder Relations

The Council is a tripartite body comprising 15 members

representing the mining industry stakeholders; that is,

five members from the State, five members from the

Employers (the mines) and five members representing

Employees (labour unions in the mining industry). The

Council endeavours to maintain good stakeholder

relations and abides by the principles of tripartism.  The

Council endeavours to achieve decision-making by

consensus and conforms to the decision-making

processes set out in its Constitution.

Addresses

The entity’s business, postal and registered addresses are

as follows:

Business address/domicile:

2nd Floor, Braamfontein Centre, 23 Jorissen Street

Braamfontein, Johannesburg, Republic of South Africa

Postal address:

Private Bag X63, Braamfontein, 2017, South Africa
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Statement of Financial Performance for the year ended 31 March 2009

2009 2008

Notes R'000 R'000 

Income 62,382 56,060 

Revenue 2 51,784 49,590

Finance income 3 9,285 6,285

Other income 4 1,313 185 

Expenditure 36,299 37,863

Research expenditure 5.4 15,619 22,214

Administrative expenses 5.5 6,077 4,577

Staff costs 5.6 8,966 5,807

Depreciation and amortisation 8 and 9 680 670

Operating expenses 5.7 4,579 4,079

Promotion of health & safety 378 516

Net Surplus for the year 26,083 18,197 
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Statement of Financial Position at 31 March 2009

2009 2008

Notes R'000 R'000 

ASSETS 

Current assets 100,359 74,508 

Cash and cash equivalents 6 80,544 59,836 

Levy and other receivables  7 17,673 13,715 

Other receivables  7 2,142 957 

Non-current assets 3,321 2,403 

Property, plant and equipment 8 3,153 2,160 

Intangible assets 9 168 243 

TOTAL ASSETS 103,680 76,911 

LIABILITIES 

Current liabilities 9,224 8,823 

Trade and other payables  10 7,591 7,349 

Unutilised administrative fines 11 1,455 1,326 

Provisions 12 178 148 

Non-current liabilities 1,223 938 

Post-retirement medical aid 13 844 667 

Payables - unallocated deposits 10 379 271 

NET ASSETS 93,233 67,150 

Accumulated Surplus 93,233 67,150 

TOTAL NET ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 103,680 76,911 
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets for the year ended 31 March 2009

Net Assets

R'000 

Restated Balance at 31 March 2007 48,953 

Net surplus for year to 31 March 2008 18,197 

Balance at 31 March 2008 67,150 

Net surplus for year to 31 March 2009 26,083 

Balance at 31 March 2009 93,233 

Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31 March 2009

2009 2008

Notes R'000 R'000 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash receipts from mines and other sources 48,407 48,904 

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (35,386) (43,301)

CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 14 13,021 5,603

Interest earned 9,285 6,285 

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 22,306 11,888 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Additions to plant and equipment (1,598) (191)

NET CASH OUT FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (1,598) (191)

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 20,708 11,697 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 59,836 48,139 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 6 80,544 59,836
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2009 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

The following are the principal accounting policies of the Council that are, in all material respects, consistent with those

applied in the previous year, except as otherwise indicated: 

1.1 Basis of Preparation 

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with South African Statements of Generally

Accepted Accounting Practices (GAAP) including any interpretations of such Statements issued by the Accounting

Practices Board, with the prescribed Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practices (GRAP) issued by the

Accounting Standards Board replacing the equivalent GAAP Statement as follows: 

Standard of GRAP replaced Statement of GAAP Replaced Statement of GAAP 

GRAP 1: Presentation of Financial Statements AC101: Presentation of Financial Statements 

GRAP 2: Cashflow Statements AC118: Cash flow Statement 

GRAP 3:  Accounting Policy, changes in accounting estimates AC103: Accounting policies, changes in estimates 

and errors and errors  

Currently, recognition and measurement principles in the above GRAP and GAAP Statements do not differ or result in

material differences in items presented and disclosed in the financial statements. The implementation of GRAP1, 2 and

3 has resulted in the following significant changes in the presentation of the financial statements: 

1.1.1 Terminology differences: 

Standard of GRAP Replaced Statement of GAAP 

Statement of financial performance Income statement 

Statement of financial position Balance sheet 

Statement of changes in net assets Statement of changes in equity 

Net assets Equity 

Surplus/Deficit for the period Profit/Loss for the period 

Accumulated Surplus/Deficit Retained earnings 

Contribution from owners Share capital 

Distribution to owners Dividends 

1.1.2 The cashflow statement can only be prepared in accordance with the direct method

1.1.3 Specific information has been presented separately on the statement of financial position, such as: 

a. Receivables from non-exchange transactions, including taxes and transfers; 

b.Taxes and transfers payable; and 

c. Trade and other payables from non exchange transactions. 

1.1.4 The amount and nature of any restrictions on cash balances is required

Paragraphs 11-15 of GRAP 1 have not been implemented as the local and international budget reporting standard is not

effective for this financial year. Although the inclusion of the budget information would enhance the usefulness of the

financial statements, non-disclosure will not affect the objective of the financial statements. 

The financial statements have been prepared on a going-concern basis and the accounting policies have been applied

consistently throughout the period. 

1.2 Currency 

All amounts have been presented in the currency of the South African Rand ( R ) and amounts have been rounded to

the nearest thousand (‘000). 
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1.3 Comparative Figures 

Prior period comparative information has been presented in the current year’s financial statements. Where necessary,

figures included in the prior period financial statements have been reclassified to ensure that the format in which the

information is presented is consistent with the format of the current year’s financial statements. 

Material prior-period errors are corrected through the restatement of the comparative figures. 

1.4 Taxation 

The Council does not pay income tax, as it is exempt in terms of section 10(1) (cA) (i) (aa) of the Income Tax Act (Act No.

58 of 1962, as amended). 

1.5 Related Parties 

The Council operates in an economic environment currently dominated by entities directly or indirectly owned by the

South African government. As a result of the constitutional independence of all three spheres of government in South

Africa, only parties within the national sphere of government will be related parties. 

Key management is defined as being individuals with the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and

controlling the activities of the entity. The Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and the Chief Research

Operations Officer are the only positions regarded as being at key management level. 

Close family members of key management are considered to be those family members who may be expected to

influence, or be influenced by key management individuals or other parties related to the entity. 

In February 2007, the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) issued an exposure draft that contains proposals

to amend IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures. If adopted, the amendments will eliminate disclosure requirements in IAS

24.17 for some entities that are controlled or significantly influenced by a State in relation to transactions with other

entities controlled or significantly influenced by that State. 

However, until the IASB makes a decision to amend IAS 24, the Council will continue applying the requirements in 

IAS 24. 

1.6 Post-Employment Benefit Plan 

The Council operates a defined benefit medical aid plan. The defined benefit obligations in terms of the post-retirement

medical aid, the related current service cost, and where applicable the past service cost are determined by using the

projected unit credit method. 

The relevant actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the period in which they arise. 

1.7 Significant Judgements 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that

affect the application of policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, and related

disclosures. Historical experience and various other factors believed to be reasonable under the circumstances are used

in these instances. Actual results in the future could differ from these estimates. Significant judgement has been

exercised in determining the following: 

Fair value estimation 

The amortised cost (using the effective interest method), less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables

are assumed to approximate their fair values. The present value of future cash flows (using the effective interest

method), is assumed to approximate the fair value of revenue and purchase transactions. 
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Impairment testing 

The entity makes judgements as to whether there is observable data indicating a measureable decrease in the

estimated future cash flows from a financial asset, and in determining the recoverable amounts of cash-generating units

and individual assets. 

Property, Plant and Equipment 

Residual values and useful lives are assessed on an annual basis and this involves estimates and judgement calls. 

Post-retirement benefit obligation 

Certain assumptions are based in the annual actuarial valuation. Refer to note 13.

Provisions 

Provisions are based on estimates using the information available to management at reporting date. 

1.8 Revenue 

Revenue comprises: 

•  Net invoiced value of levies are determined by the Council, in terms of regulations issued in terms of the Mine

Health and Safety Act, 1996 (Act No. 29 of 1996), (MHSA). Levies are recognised as income when they become

receivable and the conditions attached thereto have been met. 

•  Administrative Fines are levied by the Department of Minerals and Energy, in terms of Section 55 of the MHSA, for

breaches of certain sections of the same Act. Administrative Fines are recorded as Deferred Income when they

become receivable and are then recognised as income when conditions attached thereto are met. 

•  Government transfers/funding: The DME funds part of the administrative activities of the Council offices via a

transfer payment. These funds are recognised as income on receipt as there are no conditions attached thereto. 

1.9 Finance Income 

Finance income comprises interest receivable on positive bank balances and funds invested. Interest income is accrued

on a time proportion basis, taking into account the principal outstanding and the effective interest rate over the period

to maturity. 

1.10 Irregular, Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure 

Irregular expenditure means expenditure incurred in contravention of, or not in accordance with, a requirement of any

applicable legislation, including the PFMA. Fruitless and wasteful expenditure means expenditure that was made in vain

and that could have been avoided had reasonable care been exercised. All irregular and fruitless expenditure costs are

charged against income in the period in which they are incurred. 

1.11 Material Losses 

Material losses are losses incurred that do not comprise normal expenditure or income due to the Council and not

recovered. 

1.12 Leasing 

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfers substantially all the risks and rewards

of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

The MHSC currently has no finance leases. 

Operating lease payments 

Payments under operating leases are recognised in the income statement on a straight line basis over the term of the

lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in the income statement as an integral part of the total lease expense. 
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1.13 Impairment of Assets 

1.13.1 Impairment of property, plant and equipment 

At each balance sheet date, the Council reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine

whether there is any indication that those assets may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount

of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to

estimate the recoverable amount for an individual asset, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating

unit to which the asset belongs. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset

(cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are immediately recognised as an

expense, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under another standard, in which case the

impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease under the standard. 

1.13.2 Impairment of accounts receivable 

Accounts receivable, carried at amortised cost, are assessed for impairment on two levels: 

•  Firstly, the Council separately assesses each individually significant receivable for objective evidence of impairment.

If the Council determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed receivable, it

includes the receivable in a group of receivables for collective assessment of impairment. 

•  The Council then also assesses whether objective evidence (of impairment) exists individually or collectively for

receivables that are not individually significant. 

The Council’s receivables are grouped on a basis of similar credit risk characteristics that are indicative of receivables’

ability to pay all amounts due. 

1.14 Financial Instruments 

Recognition 

Taking into account the time value of money, financial instruments are initially measured at fair value, when the Council

has become a party to contractual provision of the instruments. 

Similarly, accounts payable are recognised at fair value, taking into account the time value of money. The purchases are

recorded at the present value of future cash flows and interest expense is accrued until the date of payment. 

Measurement 

Subsequent to initial recognition, these instruments are measured as set out below: 

Trade receivables 

Trade receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any

impairment losses. This approximates their fair value due to the short-term nature thereof. 

Investments 

Investments are initially recognised at cost, with transaction costs included. Subsequent to initial recognition, these

instruments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method if they have a fixed maturity, or at

cost if there is no fixed maturity. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash on hand is stated at face value, which is its fair value. Cash and cash equivalents comprise bank balances, cash on

deposit and cash on hand. 
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Trade payables 

Trade and other payables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method, which approximates their fair

value due to the short-term nature thereof. 

De-recognition 

Financial assets are de-recognised when: 

•  Rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or 

•  The Council retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay the amount

in full without material delay to a third party under a pass-through arrangement; or 

•  The Council has transferred the rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has transferred control of the asset. 

Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or has expired. 

1.15 Property, Plant and Equipment 

Initial recognition 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. Where significant parts of an

item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items. 

Subsequent costs 

The Council recognises in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment, the cost of replacing a part

of such an item when that cost is incurred if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied in the item will

flow to the Council and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other costs are recognised in the income

statement as expenses when incurred. 

Depreciation 

Depreciation is charged against the asset on a straight line basis so as to fully depreciate the asset to its net realisable

value at the end of its useful life, from the date available for use. Assets bought specifically for a project and intended

for donation at the end of the project’s life are depreciated over the life of the contract as the residual value (to the

Council) at that point would be nil. The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed

and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial year-end. 

Useful lives 

The following are the estimated useful lives of the categories of assets, as well as the estimated realisable values on

disposal. 

Where residual values are expected to be negligible, they are reflected at nil value. 

In terms of the requirements of IAS 16, the useful lives of all asset items were reviewed by management at year-end.

The remaining useful life expectations of some asset items differed from previous estimates. This resulted in a revision

of some of the previous estimates, which were accounted for as a change in accounting estimate. The effect of the

revision is a decrease in the amortisation charge of R0,085 and a decrease in the depreciation charge of R0,064 for the

current period. 

Asset Life in Years Estimated Disposal Value Percentage 

Office equipment 5-10 Nil 

Computer equipment 5-10 Nil

Computer software 2-8 Nil  

Furniture and fittings 10 - 15 Nil 

Research assets Duration of the contract or useful life 



MHSC Annual Report 2008/2009 62

De-recognition 

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment is de-recognised on disposal or when no future economic

benefits are expected from its use or disposal. 

Gains and losses 

Gains and losses on disposal are included in the statement of financial performance and are determined by comparing

sales proceeds with carrying amounts. 

1.16 Intangible Assets 

Recognition 

Intangible assets are stated at the historical cost of the asset less accumulated amortisation and accumulated

impairment losses. 

Internally Generated Intangible Assets (Research and development costs) 

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred, and only if all of the

following conditions are met: 

•  an asset is created that can be identified (such as software and new processes); 

•  it is probable that the asset created will generate future economic benefits, and 

•  the development cost of the asset can be measured reliably. 

Where no internally generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is recognised as an

expense in the period in which it is incurred. 

Subsequent costs 

The Council recognises in the carrying amount of the intangibles assets only expenditure that increases the future

economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is expensed as incurred. 

Amortisation 

Each asset is amortised over its useful life once it is available for use. Internally generated intangible assets are also

amortised on a straight-line basis over their lives, which is usually between two and eight years. The members of the

Council assess the carrying value of each intangible asset annually and revisions or impairments are made where it is

considered necessary. 

Useful lives 

The following is the estimated useful lives and realisable value of intangibles. Where residual values are expected to be

negligible, they are reflected at nil value. 

De-recognition 

The carrying amount of intangible assets is derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits are

expected from its use or disposal. 

Gains and losses 

Gains and losses on disposal are included in the statement of financial performance and are determined by comparing

sales proceeds with carrying amounts. 

1.17 Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Council has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and

Asset Life in Years Estimated Disposal Value Percentage 

Intangible assets 2-8 Nil
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it is probable that this will result in an outflow of economic benefits that can be estimated reliably. Provisions are

determined as the present value of future cash flows using discounted cash flow techniques, where necessary. 

2. Revenue 

2009 2008

R'000 R'000 

An analysis of the Council’s income is as follows: 

Levies Received 46,497 44,400 

State funding 4,909 4,674

Administrative fines (Note 11) 378 516 

TOTAL 51,784 49,590 

3. Finance Income 

2009 2008

R'000 R'000 

Interest Received 

Investments 7,796 4,844 

Council Administration 89 54 

7,885 4,898 

Fair value adjustment on initial recognition of contract income 1,400 1,387 

9,285 6,285 

4. Other Income 

2009 2008

R'000 R'000 

Royalty income 176 150 

Net actuarial gain - 21 

Sundry income 1,137 14

1,313 185 

Royalties were earned through the sale of Stonedust Bags developed in SIMRAC project COL501. The royalty income is

managed by the Council for Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR) in terms of a service level agreement. Sundry

income as a result of a R1.1 million VAT refund due to the Council. 

5. Surplus from Operations 

The surplus of R26 million is as a result of delay in the starting of research projects, R4 million interest received from

unutilised funds that were invested, as well as sundry income as a result the R1.1 million VAT refund due to Council. 

5.1 Material Losses, Irregular Expenses, Fruitless & Wasteful Expenditure 

No material losses were incurred for the period under review. However, a debt collection agency, Financial Solutions

absconded with R6 million of the Council’s levy monies in the 1999 financial year. This amount has not been written off,

but has been provided for and the legal process instituted by the Council in this regard has not yet been concluded. The

internal controls over the debt collection have been enhanced. 

5.2 Irregular Expenditure 

There was no irregular expenditure incurred by the Council for the period under review.
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5.3 Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure 

There was a fruitless and wasteful expenditure incurred during the period under review to the value of R0.004 million.

This is made up of general interest charges and penalties on late payments to creditors. The corresponding amount for

the prior year was R0,013 million. 

5.4 Research Expenditure 

Research expenditure comprises the following: 

2009 2008

R'000 R'000 

Research projects 

OHS culture interventions 0 615 

Rock falls 2,888 5,295 

Rock bursts 603 2,312 

Explosions and fires 484 160 

Machinery and transport 704 1,797 

Airborne pollutants 6,359 8,664 

Occupational diseases 811 1,673 

Special projects 3,770 1,698 

15,619 22,214 

5.5 Administrative Expenses 

2009 2008

R'000 R'000 

Insurance 112 93 

Advertising and promotions 174 105 

Legal and consulting fees 3,220 3,448 

Courier and postage 171 110 

Management fees 172 184 

Audit fees - external 1,330 747 

Audit fees - internal 715 167 

Other 183 (277) 

6,077 4,577 

5.5.1 Auditors’ Remuneration 

2009 2008

R'000 R'000 

Audit fees - external 1,330 747

5.6 Staff Costs 

2009 2008

R'000 R'000 

The staff costs are made up as follows: 

Salaries and wages 8,429 5,602 

Reimbursement travel 148 84 

Staff training and welfare 389 121 

TOTAL 8,966 5,807 
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5.7 Operating Expenses 

2009 2008

R'000 R'000 

Rental and utilities 1,082 921 

Loss on disposal 61 29 

Impairment losses on receivables 737 1,631 

Repairs and maintenance 53 35 

Stationery and computer expenses 827 489 

Travel and accommodation 635 345 

Seminars and meetings 444 616 

Technology transfer 736 

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure (note 5.3) 4 13 

4,579 4,079 

5.7.1 Operating Leases 

2009 2008

R'000 R'000 

Premises 756 589 

Equipment 55 20 

811 609 

6. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Bank balances consist of cash and short-term, highly liquid investments that are held with registered banking

institutions with maturities of three months or less and that are subject to insignificant interest rate risk. The carrying

amount of these assets approximates to their fair value. The bank balances consist of the following: 

2009 2008

R'000 R'000 

Mine Safety Research account 383 221 

Mine Safety Research Investments 77,382 57,616 

Total Mine Safety Research cash 77,765 57,837

Administration bank account 720 156 

Administrative Fines bank account 2,059 1,842 

Petty cash 2 2 

Credit card (2) (1)

80,544 59,836 

Analysis: 

Cash on hand and balances with banks 3,162 2,220 

Short term investments 77,382 57,616 

80,544 59,836 

As required in section 7(2) and 7(3) of the Public Finance Management Act, the National Treasury has approved the local

banks where the bank accounts are held. Central Energy Fund (Pty) Limited provides treasury functions on behalf of the

Council through terms defined in a service level agreement. 
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7. Levy and Other Receivables 

2009 2008

R'000 R'000 

Levy receivables 23,990 19,306

Impairment of Debtors (6,317) (5,591) 

Opening balance (5,591) (4,724)

Provision for the year (726) (1,631)

Amounts written off during the current year - 764

Net Levy receivables: 17,673 13,715 

Other receivables 

Financial Solutions 6,233 6,233

Impairment of Financial Solutions (6,233) (6,233)

Sundry debtors 1,990 834 

Deposits : Rent 124 89 

Study loans (staff ) 4 23 

Prepayments 24 11 

Net other receivables 2,142 957 

Total levy and other receivables 19,815 14,672 

The impairment of receivables has been determined by reference to past default experience and the current economic

environment. The ageing of the levy receivables at year-end (before taking into account receivables with credit balances

and levies to be written off) is as follows: 

2009 2008

R'000 R'000 

Current 514 -

31 to 60 days 6,258 -

61 to 90 days (4) 5,018

91 to 120 days (43) (41)

121 days plus 17,282 13,852

Total   24,007   18,829 
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8. Property, Plant and Equipment 

Plant Office Office Computer Research Computer Total
Equipment Furniture Equipment Equipment Software

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 

Year ended 31 March 2009 

Opening net carrying amount 327 75 187 263 1,301 7 2,160

Gross carrying amount 1,345 230 416 602 3,188 23 5,804

Accumulated depreciation (1,018) (155) (229) (339) (1,887) (16) (3,644) 

Additions - 462 119 206 803 - 1,590

Assets disposed 

Assets written-off 

Depreciation (135) (21) (31) (105) (300) (5) (597)

Reclassification

Closing net carrying amount 192 516 275 364 1,804 2 3,153

Gross carrying amount 1,345 692 535 808 3,991 23 7,394

Accumulated depreciation (1,153) (176) (260) (444) (2,187) (21) (4,241)

Year ended 31 March 2008 

Opening net carrying amount 462 67 215 307 1,534 326 2,911

Gross carrying amount 1,345 235 424 707 3,188 678 6,577

Accumulated depreciation (883) (168) (209) (400) (1,654) (352) (3,666)

Additions - 46 8 56 - 81 191

Assets disposed - (5) (3) (15) - (6) (29)

Assets written-off - - (1) - - - (1)

Depreciation (135) (31) (32) (107) (233) (8) (546)

Reclassification - (2) - 22 - (386) (366)

Closing net carrying amount 327 75 187 263 1,301 7 2,160 

Gross carrying amount 1,345 230 416 602 3,188 23 5,804

Accumulated depreciation (1,018) (155) (229) (339) (1,887) (16) (3,644) 

9. Intangible Assets 

2009 2008

R'000 R'000 

Opening net carrying amount 243 1 

Gross carrying amount 707 15

Accumulated amortisation (464) (14)

Amortisation during year (83) (124) 

Reclassification 366 

Additions 8 

Closing net carrying amount 168 243

Gross carrying amount 701 707

Accumulated amortisation (533) (464)

Application software was reclassified from computer software to intangible assets. 
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10. Trade and Other Payables 

2009 2008

R'000 R'000 

Trade payables 6,497 6,567 

Unallocated deposits 253 184 

Total trade payables 6,750 6,751 

Payroll payables 841 598 

Total trade & other payables 7,591 7,349 

Unallocated deposits - long-term portion 379 271 

The Council considers that the carrying amount of trade and other payables approximates their fair value. 

-  This amount represents the current portion. The other portion is reclassified as long-term in the statement of financial

position due to the prescription period of 30 years, which means that the recognition of these unknown deposits as

income would be inappropriate. 

-  In restating the prior year’s figures, it has been assumed that the ratio of the long-term portion to short-term portion

pertains to the prior year as well. 

11. Unutilised Administrative Fines 

2009 2008

R'000 R'000 

Opening balance 1,326 1,541 

Administrative fines collected 507 301 

Utilised during the year for promotion of Health and Safety (Note 2) (378) (516) 

Closing balance 1,455 1,326 

12. Provisions 

12.1 Leave Pay Provision 

The leave pay provision relates to the Council’s estimated liabilities arising as a result of services rendered by

employees. 

2009 2008

R'000 R'000 

Opening balance 144 249 

Additional provisions 257 170 

Paid during the year (223) (275) 

Closing balance 178 144 
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12.2 RSC Levies 

2009 2008

R'000 R'000

Provision for RSC levies 

Opening balance 4 317 

Addition /Adjustment (4) (313) 

Closing balance - 4 

13. Medical Benefit 

The Council has made provision for post-retirement medical benefit, covering all employees appointed prior to 1 July

2003. 

The Council has a commitment to provide medical aid for certain staff members in the event of them retiring while in

the service of the Council. This scheme is valued by a qualified actuary on an annual basis. A valuation of the liability

arising as a result of this was performed on 31 March 2009 with the valuation effective from that date. The Projected

Unit Credit Method was used to determine the present value of the Council‘s obligations in this regard. The Council has

not in the past funded this obligation. The possibility of funding this obligation in the future is currently being

investigated. There was an actuarial net (loss) of R0,030 million for the period ended 31 March 2009 (2008: R0,175

million), which substantially increases the Council’s liability. 

The amount included in the balance sheet arising from the Council’s obligation in respect of the post-retirement medical

benefit plan is as follows: 

2009 2008

R'000 R'000 

Present value of fund obligations 844 667 

Movements in the net liability in the current period were as follows: 

Opening balance 667 688 

Interest cost 67 62 

Current service cost 80 92 

Actuarial (gain) loss 30 (175) 

Closing Balance 844 667 

Key assumptions used (expressed as weighted averages): 

Discount rate 8.5% 9% 

Medical inflation increases 7.0% 7.5% 
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14. Reconciliation of Total Surplus for the year to Cash Generated from Operations 

2009 2008

R'000 R'000 

Net surplus per income statement 26,083 18,197 

Adjusted for: (Non cash flow items) 

Depreciation and amortisation 680 670 

Provisions 30 (418) 

Post-retirement medical benefit 177 (21) 

Interest received (9,285) (6,285)

Loss on disposal of assets 29

Operating surplus before changes in working capital 17,685 12,172 

Movement in working capital 

Increase (Decrease) in unutilised administration fin 129 (215) 

Increase (Decrease) in unallocated deposits 108 (65) 

Increase in accounts receivable (5,143) (591) 

Increase (Decrease) in accounts payable 242 (5,698) 

Cash generated by operations 13,021 5,603 

15. Commitments 

15.1 Operating Leases 

At the balance sheet date, the Council had outstanding commitments under non-cancellable operating leases, which fall

due as follows: 

2009 2008

R'000 R'000 

Up to 1 year – Rent Premises 658 547

- Photocopier 68 20  

2 to 5 years – Rent Premises 388 1,086

- Photocopier 343 79

TOTAL 1,457 1,732 

15.2 Research Projects 

2009 2008

R'000 R'000 

Commitments 

- Authorised and contracted for but not provided in the financial statements 8,300 22,775 

- Authorised, but not contracted for 24,241 9,223 

Total 32,541 31,998 

16. Council Members’ and Executive Management Emoluments

16.1 Council Members do not earn any fees or receive emoluments.  

16.2 The independent Chairperson of the Audit Committee earns a fee of R5 800 per meeting. 
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16.3 Executive Management 

Salary Allowances Company TOTAL

contributions R’000

Year end 31 March 2009 

Ms P Maruping (started 1 September 2008)* 683 37 46 766

Ms D Kgoele (started 1 September 2008) 375 66 42 483

Mr N Singh (started 1 October 2008) 359 38 44 441

Total 1417 141 132 1690 

Year end 31 March 2008 

Ms E Solomons** 501 180 38 719 

Total 501 180 38 719 

*The salary paid to Ms P Maruping is inclusive of a bursary of R0,222 

**The above amount is the settlement amount paid to the previous General Manager, which equates to a year’s salary. 

17. Related Party Transactions 

The MHSC is listed as a Public Entity in terms of Schedule 3A of the PFMA and therefore falls within the national sphere

of government. As a consequence, the MHSC has a number of related parties being entities that fall within the national

sphere of government.

17.1 Transactions with related parties 

During the year the Council, in the ordinary course of business, entered into the following transactions with related

parties: 

Entity Transaction amount Outstanding balances

2009 2008 2009 2008 

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 

CEF (Pty) Ltd 182 184 19 

CSIR Natural Resources (Research) 5,464 11,133 24 1,000 

CSIR Natural Resources (Royalties) 176 151 

Department of Minerals and Energy (4,909) (4,674) 

Emira Property Fund 980 637 

Focus Kamoso (Ms B Maruping) 435 

Medunsa 243 323 121 

Post Office SA 1 40 

SABC 0.0450 0.0225 

Telkom 176 146 

University of Cape Town 279 

University of Pretoria 925 2,000 184 

University of Witwatersrand (NIOH) 4,493 1,936 28 754 
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17.2. Transactions with key management 

The MHSC have appointed permanent executive personnel during the last seven months of the financial year, Ms P

Maruping (CEO), Ms D Kgoele (CFO) and Mr N Singh (CROO). The key management positions were occupied by the

Acting General Manager, Mr M Zondi, who had been seconded by the DME and the CFO position was filled on a

contract basis by Ms K Moloto, of Moloto Solutions cc for six months. There were no loans to key management during

the year. The following is a summary of transactions with key management: 

Council and Committee Entity Transaction Balance owing Provision for 
members amount doubtful debt

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Mr Johan Viljoen AngloGold Ashanti 3,588 4,171 1,849 6

Limited (Mponeng Mines)

Mr Vusi Maseko AngloGold Ashanti Limited 3,588 4,171 1,849 6

Dr B Chicksen AngloGold Ashanti Limited 3,588 4,171 1,849 6 

Mr B Nyirenda DRD Gold Limited 521 473 936 90 

Dr L La Grange Anglo Platinum 1,616 6,165 1,120 2,366

Mr TE Gazi DME

Messrs AR Nundlall/D Msiza DME

Ms S Makhoba DME

Dr NT Maku DME

Dr B Madolo Kumba Resources 615 444 1,336 1,124 1,054

Dr WK Rymon-Lipinski DME

Mr TB Letanta DME

Ms P Mnisi DME

Mr AA Coutinho DME

Mr M Zondi DME

Audit Committee Members 

Dr D Konar 22 34

Executive Management 

Acting CFO Ms K Moloto Moloto Solutions 934 663

Refer to note 17.1 for transaction amount for the Department of Minerals and Energy.
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18. Financial Instruments 

Financial instruments by category: 

The fair value of these financial instruments approximates their carrying amounts.

18.1 Credit risk 

Financial assets, which potentially subject the Council to concentration of credit risk, consist principally of cash, short-

term deposits and trade receivables. The Council’s cash equivalents and short-term deposits are placed with high-credit

quality financial institutions. Trade receivables are presented net of the allowance for doubtful debt. Credit risk with

respect to trade receivables is concentrated in the Mining sector, but is limited due to the large number of customers

comprising the Council’s customer base and their dispersion across different geographical areas. Accordingly, the

Council has no significant concentration of credit risk. The carrying amounts of financial assets included in the balance

sheet represent the Council’s exposure to credit risk in relation to these assets. The Council does not have any

significant exposure to any individual customer or counterparty. The age analysis summary is included in note 7 above.

18.2 Liquidity Risk 

The Council manages any liquidity risk it may face by maintaining adequate reserves and liquid resources by

continuously monitoring forecasted and actual cash flows. The carrying amounts of financial liabilities included in the

balance sheet represent the Council’s exposure to liquidity risk in relation to these liabilities. Accordingly, the Council

has no significant concentration of liquidity risk as there are no contractual financial liabilities. 

Financial assets 
Fair value through profit and loss 

Available for sale Loans and receivables 
Designated Held for trading

Trade receivables N/A N/A N/A 17,673 

Staff loans N/A N/A N/A 4 

Other receivables N/A N/A N/A 2,138 

Cash at bank N/A 80,544 N/A -

Financial Liabilities
Fair value through profit and loss Other

Designated 

Trade and other payables N/A 7,591 

Unallocated deposits N/A 631 

Debtors with credit balances N/A 560
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19. Subsequent Events 

There were no material events subsequent to the statement of financial position date. 

20. Standards and Interpretations issued, not yet effective 

As explained in note 1 of the Accounting Policies, the basis of accounting is GAAP with the effective standards of GRAP

issued by the Accounting Standards Board replacing the equivalent GAAP Statements, with their estimated effects on

their financial statements, have been issued but are not yet effective as at 31 March 2009. 

The standards are expected to be implemented by the entity in the next financial year in accordance with their effective

dates. 

The impact of implementing the standards is expected to be immaterial in the context of this entity’s operations. 

Standard / Interpretation Description 
Effective date - annual periods 
commencing on or after 

Amendments to 

IFRS 2 (AC 139) Share-based payment: Vesting Conditions and
Cancellations

01 January 2009 

IFRS 3 (AC 140) Business Combinations 01 January 2009 

IFRS 8 (AC 145) Operating Segments 01 January 2009

IAS 1 ( AC 101) Presentation of Financial Statements 01 January 2009 

IAS 23 (AC 114) Borrowing Costs 01 January 2009 

IAS 27 (AC 132) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 1 January 2009

IAS 32 (AC 125) 
IAS 1 ( AC 101) 

Financial Instruments: Preparation and Presentation
of Financial Statements: Puttable Financial
Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation 

01 January 2009

IFRIC 12 (AC 445) Service Concessions 01 January 2009 

IFRIC 13 (AC 446) Customer Loyalty Programmes 01 July 2009 

IFRIC 14 (AC 447) IAS 19, The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset,
Minimum Funding Requirements and their
Interaction 

01 January 2009
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The following GRAP standards have been approved, but are not yet effective: 

GRAP 4 - The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates 

GRAP 5 - Borrowing Costs 

GRAP 6 - Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 

GRAP 7 - Investments in Associate 

GRAP 8 - Interest in Joint Ventures 

GRAP 9 - Revenue from Exchange Transactions 

GRAP 10 - Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies 

GRAP 11 - Construction Contracts 

GRAP 12 - Inventories 

GRAP 13 - Leases 

GRAP 14 - Events after the reporting date 

GRAP 16 - Investment Property 

GRAP 17 - Property Plant and Equipment 

GRAP 18 - Segment Reporting 

GRAP 19 - Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 

GRAP 23 - Revenue from Non-exchange Transactions (Taxes and Transfers) 

GRAP 24 - Presentation of Budget Information in Financial Statements 

GRAP 100 - Non-current Assets held for Sale and Discontinued Operations 

GRAP 101 - Agriculture 

GRAP 102 - Intangible Assets 

The effective dates of the above standards are not yet known. The effect of adopting these GRAP Standards when they

become effective is not expected to have a significant impact on the financial statements as the principles are similar to

those already applied under the equivalent Statement of SA GAAP. 
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Telephone: +27 11 358 9180  

Facsimile: +27 11 403 1821
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Chairpersons: Council and Permanent Committees 

MHSC Chairperson Mr Thabo Gazi Thabo.Gazi@dme.gov.za

SIMRAC Chairperson Mr Thabo Dube Thabo.Dube@dme.gov.za

MRAC Chairperson Mr David Msiza David.Msiza@dme.gov.za
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MHSC Office 

Chief Executive Officer Ms Pontsho Maruping pmaruping@mhsc.org.za

Chief Financial Officer Ms Dinah Kgoele dkgoele@mhsc.org.za

Chief Research and Operations Officer Mr Navin Singh nsingh@mhsc.org.za
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Programme Manager: Safety Mr Dragan Amidzic damidzic@mhsc.org.za
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